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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED 
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment 

risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the 

potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded 

on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is 

given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, 

make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss 

howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of G.A. Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually 

accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM 

of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The 

Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information 

contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no 

other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of G.A. Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together 

with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 

2021.

During the year 2021, as the PRC economy gradually recovers from the impact of COVID-19, the overall automobiles market 

is showing a rebound trend. However, during the third and fourth quarter of 2021, the growth in the car sales market was 

dampened  amid the semiconductor shortage that is affecting the automotive production worldwide. Nevertheless, the Group’s 

overall revenue increased by 14.3% from HK$2,264,306,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$2,588,968,000 

for the year ended 31 December 2021. The profit for the year was HK$65,433,000, representing a 23.9% increase compared 

to HK$52,811,000 in 2020.

Going forward to 2022, we believe that  the uncertainties due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the supply disruption 

caused by the global shortage of automobile chips will continue. However, the Group expects the growth momentum in the 

automobiles market in China from 2021 will sustain, especially in the new energy vehicles sector. The Group will continue 

to exercise vigilant cost control to improve productivity and uphold quality service to customers as well as leverage on 

long-term good relationships with leading automobile suppliers of premium and ultra-luxury brands. The Group endeavours 

to overcome the hurdles ahead and realize its value to the shareholders and business partners.

In order to retain adequate working capital for the expansion of our dealership business and related corporate development, 

the Board does not propose any payment of dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our sincere gratitude to all our customers, business partners, employees and 

shareholders for their continuous support.

Yours sincerely,

Yuen Kin Pheng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Choy Choong Yew, Managing Director and Compliance Officer

Mr. Choy, aged 68, is currently the Managing Director and Compliance Officer of the Group and an authorised representative 

of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules as well as the director and general manager of Fujian Xingbao Automobiles 

Sales and Service Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in 1987 as the administration 

and finance manager of the Group and has achieved significant results for the Group in several roles since then. He has 

been an executive Director of the Company since 2012.

Mr. Choy has broad-based expertise in general management, operations and finance. He is known for his ability to drive 

excellent business outcomes, through insightful strategic planning, participative leadership, and focus on operational 

efficiency and sound financial management principles. Mr. Choy’s educational qualifications include a Professional Diploma 

for Finance Controllers & Finance Directors of Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprise in China (Zhongshan University 

and Hong Kong Management Association), Master of Finance (University of Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology), 

Diploma in Financial Management (Hong Kong Management Association) and Higher Diploma in Accounting (London 

Chamber of Commerce and Industry).

Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis

Mr. Ma, aged 59, was appointed as the chief financial officer, the company secretary and an authorised representative of 

the Company under the GEM Listing Rules in November 2015. He has over 30 years of working experience, mainly in 

professional services in Hong Kong, petrochemical, electronics and resources industries, both in the United States and in the 

Asia Pacific region. He also has extensive experience in managing businesses in listed companies both in Hong Kong and in 

the United States. Mr. Ma is a member of each of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association 

of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered 

Secretaries and Administrators). He graduated from the Kellogg School of Business, Northwestern University in the United 

States, the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and the Hong Kong Polytechnic (the predecessor of The Hong 

Kong Polytechnic University). He is an independent non-executive director of Carnival Group International Holdings Limited 

(stock Code: 996 listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since May 2019. He is also an executive director, chief 

financial officer and secretary of Vision Sensing Acquisition Corp. (stock code: VSACU listed on Nasdaq Global Market) 

since November 2021.

Mr. Xue Guo Qiang

Mr. Xue, aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director in July 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the 

Company. Mr. Xue, graduated from Yan Shan University (燕山大學) with a Bachelor degree in accounting in June 2013 and 

from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business with an executive master in business administration in September 2016. 

Mr. Xue has over 20 years of experience with progressive responsibilities in the automotive sales and services industry in 

China with a leading chain of dealership for high-end and luxury vehicles and is experienced in the area of accounting, 

auditing, finance & control, risk management and treasury.

Mr. Zhang Xi

Mr. Zhang, aged 38, is currently the director and deputy general manager of Xiamen BMW Automobiles Service Co, Ltd, a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Prior to joining the 

Group, Mr. Zhang has worked in international high-end automobiles companies as key management, mainly responsible for 

overseeing operational efficiency and strategic planning. Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor degree of Information Management 

System from Beihang University (北京航空航天大學) and a Master degree in International Relations from the University of 

International Relations (國際關係學院). He was appointed as an executive Director of the Company in September 2015.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Lin Ju Zheng

Mr. Lin, aged 74, holds a bachelor degree in foreign language majoring in English from Fujian No. 2 Normal College (福
建第二師範學院) (which merged with other colleges to become Fujian Normal University (福建師範大學)). He is a senior 

economist with extensive experience in banking operations and management. Before joining the Company, Mr. Lin occupied 

senior positions in one of the major banks in the PRC till December 2007. Mr. Lin was appointed as an independent non-

executive Director in June 2010 and was re-designated as an executive Director of the Company in March 2012. On 23 

March 2017, he was re-designated as a non-executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng, Chairman

Mr. Yuen, aged 72, currently the advisor to Spirit Aero Systems, a large aero structures manufacturer in the United States 

of America. Throughout his career, he held various senior executive leadership positions in Fortune 500 companies as well 

as major listed companies in Singapore, covering businesses in the Asia Pacific region. His executive positions included 

chief executive officer, president and vice president, spanning across various industries such as aerospace and aviation, 

HVAC (heating, ventilation and air conditioning), diesel engines, home appliances and building materials. Mr. Yuen has a 

distinguished career with the Republic of Singapore Air force with a number of diverse positions in operations, planning and 

administration. He left the service to pursue a second career in business after 18 years with the rank of Lieutenant Colonel. 

Mr. Yuen holds a bachelor’s degree (First-Class Honors) in business administration and a master of business administration 

from the National University of Singapore and completed the advanced management program from the Wharton School of 

Business at the University of Pennsylvania, United States of America. He was appointed as an independent non-executive 

Director of the Company on 23 March 2017 and appointed as chairman of the Board on 18 February 2022.

Ms. Guan Xin

Ms. Guan, aged 45, is currently the general manager of a company providing management, training and consultancy services 

in the PRC. She has extensive experience in other major industries including finance, renewable energy, telecommunication 

and public accounting. Ms. Guan graduated from the Guanghua School of Management of Peking University with a master 

degree in professional accounting and is a certified public accountant in the PRC. She was appointed as an independent 

non-executive Director of the Company in July 2016.

Mr. Zhou Ming

Mr. Zhou, aged 49, graduated from China University of Political Science and Law (中國政法大學) and holds a master degree 

in law from Peking University Law School (北京大學法學院). Mr. Zhou joined Global Law Office (Beijing) in 2001 and was 

admitted as a partner in 2007. He was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in November 2015.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the PRC economy gradually recovers from the impact of COVID-19, the overall 

automobiles market is showing a rebound trend. However, during the third and fourth quarter of 2021, the growth in the 

car sales market was dampened amid the semiconductor shortage that is affecting automotive production worldwide.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the consolidated revenue increased by 14.3% from HK$2,264,306,000 for the 

year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$2,588,968,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The profit for the year ended 

31 December 2021 was HK$65,433,000, representing a 23.9% increase compared to HK$52,811,000 for the year ended 

31 December 2020. The increase in the revenue and profit from operations was mainly due to a general recovery of the 

automobiles market, and a shortage in supply during the second half of the year that helped to maintain better price and 

margin.

Sales of Motor Vehicles

Sales of motor vehicles increased by 16.8% from HK$1,619,354,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$1,891,045,000 

for the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly due to stronger pricing.

Servicing of Motor Vehicles and Sales of Auto Parts

Revenue generated from servicing of motor vehicles and sales of auto parts increased by 9.1% from HK$604,571,000 for 

the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$659,705,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly due to recovery of 

the automobiles market.

Technical Fee Income

The Group received technical fee income from Xiamen Zhong Bao Automobiles Co., Ltd.# (“Xiamen Zhong Bao”) for 

providing management consulting and technical assistance in relation to the PRC locally assembled BMW motor vehicles 

sold by Xiamen Zhong Bao.

Technical fee income for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$10,222,000, representing an increase of 14.1% 

compared to the year ended 31 December 2020 since there was an increase in the number of PRC locally assembled BMW 

motor vehicles sold by Xiamen Zhong Bao.

Car Rental Business

The income from car rental business in Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$27,996,000, representing 

a decrease of 10.9% compared to the year ended 31 December 2020. This was mainly due to a decrease in long-term 

customers amidst general business uncertainties resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Gross Operating Profit and Gross Operating Margin

Gross operating profit is calculated based on revenue for the year minus changes in inventories and auto parts and accessories, 

and motor vehicles purchased during the year. Gross operating margin is calculated based on the gross operating profit for 

the year divided by revenue for the year multiplied by 100%.

The gross operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 increased by 18.1% to HK$361,155,000, as compared to 

HK$305,711,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The gross operating margin increased slightly from 13.5% for the year ended 31 December 2020 to 13.9% for the year 

ended 31 December 2021 as the average gross operating margin on car sales increased.

Other Income

Other income increased by 11.9% from HK$45,323,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$50,736,000 for the 

year ended 31 December 2021 mainly due to an increase in consultant service income resulting from an increase in sales of 

motor vehicles offset by a decrease in commission income during the year.

Employee Benefit Expenses

The Group recorded employee benefit expenses of HK$132,365,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing a 

25.2% increase as compared to HK$105,709,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly due to an 

increase in staff expense in view of improved gross operating profit and increase in average number of staff during the year.

Depreciation and Amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation expenses increased slightly by 2.4% from HK$59,625,000 for the year ended 31 December 

2020 to HK$61,062,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was an exchange loss of HK$1,518,000 (2020 exchange gain of: HK$896,000), 

which mainly resulted from the translation of receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies other than the 

functional currencies of the group companies.

Other Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2021, other expenses were HK$82,013,000, representing an increase of 38.1% compared to 

HK$59,373,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) a write off in property, plant 

and equipment amount to approximately HK$6,617,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021 while nil incurred for the 

year ended 31 December 2020; (ii) an increase in advertising an promotion expenses by approximately HK$5,097,000 during 

the year ended 31 December 2021; (iii) an increase in financial guarantee expenses, a non-cash expense, of approximately 

HK$3,868,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021; and (iv) the general cost saving during the temporary closure of 

our 4S shops, repair centres and offices in early 2020 due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Finance Costs

Finance costs slightly increased from HK$34,508,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to HK$34,665,000 for the year 

ended 31 December 2021.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense during the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$24,900,000, a decrease by 6.9% compared to 

HK$26,742,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The effective tax rate of the Group decreased from 33.6% for the 

year ended 31 December 2020 to 27.6% for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was due to decrease in losses 

of the Group’s loss making subsidiaries compared to last year.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 December 2021, shareholders’ fund of the Group amounted to HK$815,812,000 (2020: HK$724,632,000). 

Current assets of the Group amounted to HK$1,464,928,000 (2020: HK$1,268,001,000), of which HK$237,870,000 

(2020: HK$174,706,000) were cash and bank balances and pledged deposits. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to 

HK$995,694,000 (2020: HK$887,362,000), mainly represented trade payables, bills payables, borrowings, contract liabilities, 

accruals and other payables and current portion of lease liabilities. The Group had non-current liabilities of approximately 

HK$151,421,000 (2020: HK$154,821,000) and mainly represents the non-current portion of borrowings, lease liabilities 

and deferred tax liabilities. The net asset value per share as at 31 December 2021 was HK$1.71 (2020: HK$1.52).

Capital Structure of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had no debt securities in issue (2020: nil).

The Group obtained funding mainly from bank and other borrowings. They are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars 

and Renminbi (“RMB”). As at 31 December 2021, the Group has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately 

HK$231,080,000 (2020: HK$272,890,000).

Capital Expenditure and Capital Commitments

In 2021, the Group incurred capital expenditure of approximately HK$43,077,000 (2020: HK$34,578,000) on acquisition 

of property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 December 2021, there were commitment contracted but not provided for purchase of property, plant and equipment 

amounted to approximately HK$31,593,000. (2020: nil).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries or Affiliated Companies

The Group had no acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries or affiliated companies during the years ended 31 December 

2021 and 2020.
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Employees

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of employees of the Group was 786 (2020: 757). For the year ended 31 December 

2021, the staff costs including directors’ remuneration of the Group amounted to HK$132,365,000 (2020: HK$105,709,000), 

representing 5.1% (2020: 4.7%) of the revenue of the Group. Appropriate staff force is maintained cautiously in accordance 

with the operational needs and activities of the Group.

It is the Group’s policy to review its employee’s pay levels and performance bonus system regularly to ensure the remuneration 

policy is competitive within the industry.

Charges on Group’s Assets

As at 31 December 2021, fixed deposits of HK$122,542,000 (2020: HK$118,310,000) were pledged to banks and other 

financial institutions to secure facilities of the Group while amounts of HK$12,524,000 (2020: HK$15,991,000) were 

pledged to banks as security in favor of one of our suppliers.

As at 31 December 2021, certain motor vehicles and plant and machinery with net carrying amount of approximately 

HK$10,778,000 (2020: HK$3,744,000) was pledged as collateral for the other borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, building with net carrying amount of approximately HK$25,097,000 (2020: HK$26,669,000) 

was pledged as collateral for the bank borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, certain motor vehicles included in right-of-use assets with net carrying amount of approximately 

HK$9,019,000 was pledged as collateral for the lease liabilities of the Group (2020: HK$16,171,000).

As at 31 December 2021, leasehold land included in right-of-use assets with net carrying amounts of approximately 

HK$76,690,000 and HK$2,746,000 were pledged as collateral for the bank borrowings of the Group and Xiamen Zhong 

Bao respectively (2020: HK$77,311,000 and HK$2,731,000 respectively).

Gearing Ratio

The Group expresses its gearing ratio as a percentage of total borrowings (including bills payable, lease liabilities, short-term 

and long-term borrowings, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position), less cash and bank balances (net 

debt), divided by total equity, plus net debt. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a gearing ratio of 0.49 (2020: 0.51).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group provided guarantees with aggregate principal amounts of approximately HK$173,177,000 

in respect of banking facilities to Zhong Bao Group (2020: HK$109,296,000).

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report, there was no material event relevant to the business or 

financial performance of the Group after 31 December 2021 that comes into the attention of the Directors.



Management Discussion and Analysis

12

DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

PROSPECT
Going forward to 2022, we believe that the uncertainties due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the supply disruption 

caused by the global shortage of automobile chips will continue. However, the Group expects the growth momentum in the 

automobiles market in China from 2021 will substain, especially in the new energy vehicles sector. The Group will continue to 

exercise vigilant cost control to improve productivity and provide excellent customer-oriented services and improve customer 

experience at our automobile dealer shops as well as leverage on long-term good relationships with leading automobile 

suppliers of premium and ultra-luxury brands. The Group endeavours to overcome the hurdles ahead and realize its value 

to the shareholders and business partners.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in sales of motor vehicles and 

provision of car-related technical services, servicing of motor vehicles, sales of auto parts and provision of car rental services.

The business of each subsidiary and details of its nature of business, country of incorporation or other establishment, and 

particulars of the issued share capital and debt securities are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. An 

analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and profit before income tax is set out in notes 6, 8 and 10 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and a discussion on the Group’s future business 

development are provided in the sections “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this 

annual report.

RESULTS, DIVIDENDS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 

55 to 143 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021. As far as the Company 

is aware, as at the date of this report, there was no arrangement under which any shareholder has waived or agreed to 

waive any dividend proposed to be distributed for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is scheduled to be convened on Tuesday, 10 May 2022. For determining the 

entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 5 May 

2022 to Tuesday, 10 May 2022 both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order 

to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must 

be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 

Wednesday, 4 May 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company is an investment holding company and has not carried out any business. Accordingly, the Company did not 

have any distributable reserve available for distribution to the shareholders as at 31 December 2021. Further details of the 

Company’s distributable reserve as at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.



Directors’ Report

14

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements of property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out 

in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 

Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) 

which are notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to SFO (including interests or short positions which 

they are taken or deemed to have under the provisions of the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the 

SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required pursuant to Rule 5.48 of the GEM Listing 

Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in shares

Name Capacity

Number of  

ordinary  

shares held

Approximate 

percentage of  

total issued  

voting shares

Luo Wan Ju Personal interest 8,000,000 1.68%

Ma Hang Kon, Louis Personal interest 500,000 0.10%

Xue Guo Qiang Personal interest 19,484,000 4.09%

Zhang Xi Personal interest 500,000 0.10%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or their associates had any interests or short position 

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part 

XV of the SFO) which are notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of 

the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under the provisions of the SFO), 

or which are required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were 

required pursuant to Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2021, the persons or corporations (other than Directors or chief executive of the Company) who have 

interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be 

kept under Section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Name Capacity

Number of  

shares held

Approximate 

percentage of  

total issued  

voting shares

Loh Nee Peng Beneficial owner and interest of controlled 

corporations (note 1)

107,780,320 22.63%

Loh & Loh Construction  

Group Ltd

Beneficial owner (note 1) 45,284,000 9.51%

Big Reap Investment Limited Beneficial owner (note 1) 32,676,320 6.86%

Galligan Holdings Limited Beneficial owner (note 2) 39,700,000 8.34%

Credit Suisse Trust Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (note 2) 39,700,000 8.34%

Notes:

1.	 The 107,780,320 shares are held as to 32,676,320 shares by Big Reap Investment Limited and as to 45,284,000 shares by Loh & 

Loh Construction Group Ltd as well as 29,820,000 shares directly by Mr. Loh Nee Peng. Big Reap Investment Limited is interested 

as to 100% by Mr. Loh Nee Peng and Loh & Loh Construction Group Ltd. is interested as to 64% by Mr. Loh Nee Peng. By virtue 

of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Loh Nee Peng is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Big Reap Investment Limited and Loh & 

Loh Construction Group Ltd.

2.	 The 39,700,000 shares are held by Galligan Holdings Limited which is interested as to 100% indirectly held by Credit Suisse Trust 

Limited. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Credit Suisse Trust Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Galligan 

Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors were not aware of any other person or corporation who 

had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 

3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was expected to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share 

capital or carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wan Ju (Chairman) (resigned as chairman and executive Director on 18 February 2022)

Mr. Choy Choong Yew (Managing Director)

Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis

Mr. Xue Guo Qiang

Mr. Zhang Xi

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lin Ju Zheng

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng (Chairman) (appointed as chairman on 18 February 2022)

Ms. Guan Xin

Mr. Zhou Ming

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”) adopted on 11 May 2012, at each 

AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to 

but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement 

at AGM at least once every three years. Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to 

fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after his appointment and be subject to 

re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office 

only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. At the AGM, it is intended 

that Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis, Mr. Xue Guo Qiang and Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng, will be retired by rotation and will offer 

themselves for re-election thereof.

Mr. Choy Choong Yew, Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis, Mr. Xue Guo Qiang, Mr. Zhang Xi and Mr. Lin Ju Zheng, each entered 

into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 16 May 2021, 16 November 

2021, 4 July 2019, 23 September 2021 and 23 March 2020 respectively subject to early termination by the Company giving 

not less than three months’ notice of termination in writing or payment in lieu at any time during the term.

Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng, Ms. Guan Xin and Mr. Zhou Ming each entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a 

term of three years commencing from 23 March 2020, 26 July 2019 and 16 November 2021 respectively, subject to early 

termination by the Company giving not less than three months’ notice of termination in writing or payment in lieu.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) to which the Company or 

any of its subsidiaries was a party in which a Director or a controlling shareholder of the Company had a material interest, 

whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ RIGHT TO SUBSCRIBE FOR EQUITY OR 
DEBT SECURITIES
None of the Directors and chief executives or their spouse or children under the age of 18 was granted by the Company or 

any of its subsidiaries any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company or any body corporate.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated and promoted based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The 

emoluments of the Directors of the Company are determined with regard to the performance of individual, the Company’s 

operating results and market standards.

DIRECTORS EMOLUMENTS AND THE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Details of Directors’ emoluments and the highest paid employees are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The related party transactions of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual 

report. The related party transactions of the Company did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected 

transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the 

reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. For the year 

ended 31 December 2021, the Group had not entered into any transactions constituting connected transactions (including 

continuing connected transactions) which are subject to the disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing 

Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out in the financial summary on page 144 of 

this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT OF RISKS
Details of risk management are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of the segmental information of the Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Confirmation of independence has been received from each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company 

and the Company considers all existing independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the 

independence guidelines as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the percentage of sales and purchases attributable to the Group’s major customers 

and suppliers are set out as below:

Sales

– The largest customer 3.2%

– The total of five largest customers 8.3%

Purchases

– The largest supplier 60.8%

– The total of five largest suppliers 93.3%

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors nor their respective close associates nor any shareholders (which to 

the knowledge of Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five largest 

customers and suppliers of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, throughout 

the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public 

float as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws in Cayman Islands, which would oblige the 

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by Grant Thornton 

Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”), who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditor of the 

Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis, aged 59, was appointed as the company secretary and authorised representative of the Company 

with effect from 16 November 2015. He is a member of each of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the 

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of 

Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Ma confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional 

training during the year ended 31 December 2021.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Choy Choong Yew, Managing Director and Compliance Officer

Mr. Choy, aged 68, is currently the Managing Director and Compliance Officer of the Group and an authorized representative 

of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules as well as the director and general manager of Fujian Xingbao Automobiles 

Sales and Service Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in 1987 as the administration 

and finance manager of the Group and has achieved significant results for the Group in several roles since then.

Mr. Choy was appointed as an executive director of the Company in May 2012. Mr. Choy’s educational qualifications 

include a Professional Diploma for Finance Controllers & Finance Directors of Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprise in 

China (Zhongshan University and Hong Kong Management Association), Master of Finance (University of Royal Melbourne 

Institute of Technology), Diploma in Financial Management (Hong Kong Management Association) and Higher Diploma in 

Accounting (London Chamber of Commerce and Industry).

COMPETING INTERESTS
None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the Company had any interest in a business which competes or 

may compete with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives 

to participants in the Share Option Scheme to contribute to the Group and enabling the Company to recruit high-calibre 

employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme in prior years and during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group.
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ADVANCES TO ENTITIES
As defined in the GEM Listing Rule 17.14, “relevant advance to an entity” means the aggregate of amounts due from and 

all guarantees given on behalf of (i) an entity; (ii) the entity’s controlling shareholder; (iii) the entity’s subsidiaries; (iv) the 

entity’s affiliated companies; and (v) any other entity with the same controlling shareholders.

Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rule 17.16, a disclosure obligation arises where the increment of the relevant advance amount 

to an entity from the Group exceeds 3% under the assets ratio as defined under Rule 19.07 (1) of the GEM Listing Rules 

(the “Assets Ratio”).

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s consolidated total assets were approximately HK$1,962,927,000.

(Audited) 

As at 

31 December 

2021 Assets Ratio

(Audited) 

As at 

31 December 

2020

Increment as 

compared to 

Assets Ratio

HK$’000 (%) HK$’000 (%)
     

Guarantees to Zhong Bao Group (note) 173,177 8.8 109,296 2.6
     

Relevant advances in comparison to the previous disclosure are shown below:

(Audited) 

As at 

31 December 

2021 Assets Ratio

(Unaudited) 

As at 

30 September 

2021

Increment as 

compared to 

Assets Ratio

HK$’000 (%) HK$’000 (%)
     

Guarantees to Zhong Bao Group (note) 173,177 8.8 169,920 N/A
     

Note:	 Such amounts include the principal amount of the facilities granted by the banks to Xiamen Zhong Bao and its related companies 

(“Zhong Bao Group”).

The Group entered into a guarantee agreement on 7 June 2021 (the “Guarantee Agreement A”) with Fuzhou Zhong Bao 

Automobiles Sales and Service Co., Ltd.# (“FZZB”) and Ningde Zhong Bao Automobiles Sales and Services Co., Ltd.# 

(“NDZB”). Pursuant to the Guarantee Agreement A, Xiamen BMW Automobiles Service Co, Ltd.#, Quanzhou Fubao 

Automobiles Sales and Services Co., Ltd.# and Fujian Xingbao Automobiles Sales and Services Co., Ltd.#, all being wholly-

owned subsidiaries of the Company, will during the period from 1 August 2021 to 31 July 2023 guarantee FZZB and 

NDZB banking facilities to be incurred in its ordinary course of business in a maximum aggregate amount of RMB51.0 

million. The Guarantee Agreement A and the transactions contemplated thereunder have been approved by shareholders at 

the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 30 July 2021.
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The Group entered into another guarantee agreement on 15 November 2021 (the “Guarantee Agreement B”) with Xiamen 

Zhong Bao Automobiles Co., Ltd.# (“Xiamen Zhong Bao”) to replace the previous one entered into on 12 November 

2019, which expired on 31 December 2021. Pursuant to the Guarantee Agreement B, Xiamen BMW Automobiles Service 

Co, Ltd.# and its immediate holding company, German Automobiles Pte Ltd. will during the period from 1 January 2022 

to 31 December 2023 guarantee Xiamen Zhong Bao’s banking facilities to be incurred in its ordinary course of business 

in a maximum aggregate amount of RMB101.0 million. The Guarantee Agreement B and the transactions contemplated 

thereunder have been approved by shareholders at the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 20 December 2021.

Further details for the Guarantee Agreement A and B were set out in the circular of the Company dated 15 July 2021 and 

3 December 2021 respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during 

the year ended 31 December 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
During the year and at the time when the Directors’ Report was approved, a permitted indemnity provision in line with 

the requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance for the benefit of all directors of the 

Company was in force.

On behalf of the Board

G.A. Holdings Limited

Yuen Kin Pheng

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2022

#  for identification purpose only



Corporate Governance Report

22

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The Group is committed to promoting good corporate governance, with the following objectives: (i) the maintenance of 

responsible decision making, (ii) the improvement in transparency and disclosure of information to shareholders, (iii) the 

continuance of respect for the rights of shareholders and the recognition of the legitimate interests of the shareholders, and 

(iv) the improvement in management of risk and the enhancement of performance by the Group.

The Group has complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report 

contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Code Provisions”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board continues to monitor and review the Group’s progress in respect of corporate governance practices to ensure 

compliance. The Board and senior management are responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in 

Code Provision D.3.1.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by 

Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 

Rules. The Company had also made specific enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware of any non-compliance 

with the required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors.

BOARD
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent 

non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Choy Choong Yew (Managing Director)

Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis

Mr. Xue Guo Qiang

Mr. Zhang Xi

Non-executive Director

Mr. Lin Ju Zheng
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng (Chairman)

Ms. Guan Xin

Mr. Zhou Ming

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly over the Company’s affairs and operations and held seven board meetings in 2021. The attendance 

records of each Director are set out below:

Executive Directors’ attendance

Luo Wan Ju (resigned on 18 February 2022) 7/7

Choy Choong Yew 7/7

Ma Hang Kon, Louis 7/7

Xue Guo Qiang 7/7

Zhang Xi 7/7

Non-executive Director’s attendance

Lin Ju Zheng 7/7

Independent non-executive Directors’ attendance

Yuen Kin Pheng 7/7

Guan Xin 7/7

Zhou Ming 7/7

Responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions of the Board and management

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the success of the Company through its direction and 

supervision. In practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision making in all major matters of the Company while the 

day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the senior executives. Approval has 

to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions being entered into.

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Chairman of the Company and other Directors are set out on pages 6 

to 7 of this annual report. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

Retirement of directors

Under Code Provision A.4.2, every Director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. 

According to the existing Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors 

for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall 

retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at 

least once every three years. In order to comply with the Code Provision A.4.2, Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis, Mr. Xue Guo 

Qiang and Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and being eligible, 

will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Continuous professional development

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and 

refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development by reading relevant 

materials, attending trainings conducted by accredited service providers and in-house briefing on topics related to corporate 

governance regulations and Directors’ duties. All Directors are also currently members of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Directors and are continuously improving their Directors’ skill and keeping up to date with all issues affecting their ability 

to fulfill their roles.

All Directors understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to participating in any 

suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has also arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the Directors for the year 

ended 31 December 2021 and onwards.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the role of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be 

performed by the same individual to ensure a balance of power and authority. The roles of chairman and chief executive 

officer are undertaken by Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng and Mr. Choy Choong Yew respectively.

The executive Directors, including the chief executive officer, undertake the day-to-day management of the Company’s 

business, whereas the Chairman is responsible for management of the Board and strategic planning for the Group and 

ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings. The Board believes that the balance of 

power and authority is adequately ensured under the existing arrangement and the operations of the Board which comprises 

experienced and high caliber individuals with a substantial number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, 

whereas Code Provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to election by 

shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment and that every director, including those appointed for a specific 

term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Lin Ju Zheng was a non-executive Director. He was appointed for a specific 

term of three years and is subject to retirement by rotation every three years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
In compliance with Rules 5.05A, 5.05 (1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent 

non-executive Directors, i.e. Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng, Ms. Guan Xin and Mr. Zhou Ming, representing one-third of the Board 

and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise. 

Confirmation of independence has been received from each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company and 

the Company considers all existing independent non-executive Directors to be independent according to the independence 

guidelines as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Under Code Provision A.4.1, independent non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-

election. All three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng, Ms. Guan Xin and Mr. Zhou Ming entered 

into appointment letters with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 23 March 2020, 26 July 2019 and 

16 November 2021 respectively.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is supported by a number of committees, including the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration 

Committee. Each Board Committee has its defined and written terms of reference approved by the Board covering its duties, 

powers and functions. Their terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including access to management or 

professional advice if considered necessary.

The Board Committees have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in board meetings for all committee 

meetings.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was formed on 29 September 2006. As at 31 December 2021, the Nomination 

Committee comprised of Mr. Luo Wan Ju, an executive Director, Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng and Ms. Guan Xin, both are independent 

non-executive Director and Mr. Luo Wan Ju was the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

On 18 February 2022, Mr. Luo Wan Ju resigned as an executive Director, chairman of the Board and chairman of Nomination 

Committee, Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng was appointed as chairman of the Board and chairman of the Nomination Committee and 

Mr. Zhou Ming has been appointed as a member of Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition, including its structure, size 

and diversity, developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors and senior 

management, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors and senior 

management, and assessment of the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee 

carries out the process of selecting and recommending candidates for directorships by making reference to the balance 

of, including but not limited to, their expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge and personal integrity of such 

individuals, the requirements of the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Further details on 

the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the website of the Company and the website of the 

Stock Exchange.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee had held meeting once for making recommendation 

to the Board on annual review on the appointment of Directors, and review on assessment of the independence of the 

independent non-executive Directors during the year.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was formed on 27 September 2005. As at 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee 

comprised of namely Mr. Zhou Ming, Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng and Ms. Guan Xin, all are independent non-executive Directors. 

Mr. Zhou Ming is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for making recommendations to the Board on policies and structure 

for remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment for a formal and transparent procedure 

for developing policy on such remuneration. The Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration policy and structure 

and determination of the annual remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the senior management and other 

related matters as and when appropriate. The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or the Managing 

Director of the Company about its recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages. 

Further details on the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on the website of the Company and 

the website of the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to discuss and review the 

remuneration policy and structure of the Company and remuneration packages of the independent non-executive Directors 

and the senior management under review for the year.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was formed on 5 June 2002. As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee comprised of Mr. Zhou 

Ming, Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng and Ms. Guan Xin, all are independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Zhou Ming was the 

chairman of the Audit Committee. With effective from 18 February 2022, Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng has been redesignated as the 

chairman of the Audit Committee and Mr. Zhou Ming has been redesignated as a member of Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly: (a) to review the Group’s annual reports, consolidated financial 

statements, interim reports and quarterly reports, (b) to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management 

and internal control system of the Group, and (c) to liaise with the external auditor at least twice a year and provide advices 

and comments thereon to the Board. Further details on the terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the 

website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held five meetings. The Audit Committee has carefully 

reviewed the Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and its risk management and internal control system 

and has made suggestions to improve them. The Audit Committee has also carried out and discharged its duties set out in 

the relevant Code Provisions. In the course of doing so, the Audit Committee has met the Company’s management, risk 

management and internal audit teams and external auditor during 2021. The audited financial results of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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The attendance records of each committee members in each of the committee meetings are set out below:

Nomination 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Audit  

Committee

Executive Director

Luo Wan Ju 1/1 N/A N/A

Independent non-executive Directors

Yuen Kin Pheng 1/1 1/1 5/5

Guan Xin 1/1 1/1 5/5

Zhou Ming N/A 1/1 5/5

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor, Grant Thornton Hong 

Kong Limited or their affiliated firms is as follows:

2021

HK$’000
  

Statutory audit 1,200

Review of interim results 230

Other non-audit services (mainly other reporting review services) 168
  

1,598

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the external 

auditor during the year under review.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis (“Mr. Ma”) was appointed as the Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative of the 

Company with effect from 16 November 2015. Mr. Ma possesses day-to-day knowledge on the Company’s affairs and 

is responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on all governance matters and facilitates the induction and 

professional development of all Directors. Mr. Ma has confirmed that he has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant 

professional training during the year ended 31 December 2021.



Corporate Governance Report

28

DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential 

element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The Company has therefore adopted a board diversity policy which sets 

out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board.

Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number 

of factors, including but not limited to the talents, skills, regional and industry experience, background, gender and other 

qualities of the members of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of the 

Board and when possible should be balanced appropriately. All appointments of the members of the Board are made on 

merit, in the context of the talents, skills and experience the Board as a whole requires to be effective.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is responsible for overseeing the Company’s risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their 

effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 

business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Senior management is responsible for administering the Company’s risk management and is accountable for ensuring that the 

Company’s business operations are conducted in compliance with relevant laws and regulations, taking into consideration 

changes in the environment and the Company’s risk tolerance.

The Group has set up an internal audit team to perform ongoing internal audit and conduct risk assessment review. Such 

review included one-on-one interviews with key executives on behalf of the Audit Committee and the Company to understand 

the Company’s risk management process. Relevant risks were identified and rated; with mitigating factors evaluated and 

documented. The review also made an assessment of the adequacy of internal controls through inquires and discussion with 

the management, observations and review of documents and performance of the internal control system. The risk assessment 

and internal control review reports were reviewed and commented in detail by the Company’s chief financial officer and 

the chairman of the Audit Committee; and was distributed and presented to the Audit Committee, including a discussion of 

the risks relevant to the Company; room for improvement in the internal control system; and resolution of material internal 

control defects identified, if any. The Audit Committee concluded that the Company had in place effective and adequate 

risk management and internal control system.
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Risk management process

Key process and components of risk management and internal control of the Group are set out below:

Risk identification – a review on the current operation of the Group to identify relevant strategic risk, operating risk, 

financial risk and information risk. Key risk indicators are taken into consideration including economic data, industry trends, 

competitors’ behavior, the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ management capabilities and financial information.

Risk estimation – an assessment of the management on the likelihood of occurrence of the risks identified and their qualitative 

and quantitative significance to the Group.

Risk evaluation – a process to make an overall judgment on the acceptability of each risk identified based on its estimated 

probability of occurrence and potential impact.

Taking measures – applying different strategies (e.g. risk elimination, risk mitigation or risk retention) and measures to 

respond to the risks identified, including but not limited to developing appropriate audit plan.

Monitoring – regular reviews by the management on key operating and financial performance of each business segment.

Significant risks relevant to the Company

The Company’s 2021 risk management process identified the most significant risks relevant to the Company as follows:

Political and regulatory risk in the PRC

The majority of the Group’s business is conducted in the PRC, where laws and regulations are continuously evolving in 

response to changing economic and other conditions. The automobile industry is highly regulated and has been undergoing 

reforms in policies and measures to improve transparency and enable fair competition which greatly affect all stakeholders 

in the industry. To mitigate the risks associated with recent changes and challenges, the Company’s senior management 

closely monitor the changing laws and regulations, and carry out regular discussion with outside counsel and research into 

applicable laws to ensure compliance.

Downturn in the PRC economy

The Group’s revenue is substantially dependent on the supply of automobiles by the manufacturers of relevant premium 

brands and the purchasing power of the customers. A sustained economic downturn could curtail consumer spending especially 

on automobiles, auto parts, and after sales services that the Group is selling. To mitigate this risk, senior management 

continues to evaluate the impact of the Chinese economy on its operations and to investigate alternatives as the need arises.
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Information technology

The Company’s internal work processes and communication with automobile manufacturers are highly dependent on the 

support of its information system. A major deficiency in the Company’s information technology infrastructure systems, 

including hardware, software, networks, people and processes, will make it difficult for the Company to cope with the ever-

changing business, resulting in lower operating efficiency and increased operating costs and may even disrupt the business. 

As the Company is essentially providing services to customers for the selection, purchase and maintenance of automobiles 

with a service-centric strategy, low efficiency can greatly reduce customer satisfaction which may result in a serious threat 

to the Company’s competitiveness and profitability. In mitigating the risk, the Company ensures the investment of adequate 

resources and manpower to monitor the systems and closely communicate with the automobile manufacturers.

Inside information

The Directors, with the assistance of outside legal counsels and professionals as and when necessary, assess the likely impact 

of any unexpected and significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their trading volume and decide whether 

the relevant information constitutes inside information which needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable pursuant 

to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM Listing Rules and the inside information provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

Internal control

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the appropriate internal controls including the ones set out below were in place.

1.	 Defined organisational structure, with specified limits of authority and lines of responsibility, has been established.

2.	 Appropriate operating policies and procedure have been established.

3.	 Delegation of authority – The Directors and/or management are delegated with appropriate level of authority relating 

to certain businesses or operational objectives. Appropriate Board Committees of which their decision-making 

authority has been delegated by the Board, are established to review, approve and monitor relevant aspects of the 

affairs of the Group.

4.	 Budgetary system – (i) Business plans and forecasts are prepared annually and subject to monthly review and approval 

by the management. With an annual budget and monthly rolling forecasts, the management is able to identify and 

evaluate the likelihood of the financial impact of significant business risks in the coming year and achieve the business 

objectives; (ii) A budgetary system in relation to monthly recurrent and major capital expenditure is in place. Any 

material variances against budgets are investigated, explained and approved by the respective financial controller.

5.	 Internal Audit Review – The internal auditor has unrestricted access to review all aspects of the Group’s activities 

and internal controls and risk management. Any serious internal control and risk management deficiencies or fraud 

identified would be reported immediately to the Directors or directly to the Audit Committee.

6.	 Review by Audit Committee and the Board – The Directors review major business and operational activities and 

financial performance of the Group.
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7.	 Comprehensive accounting system – A reliable and comprehensive accounting system is in place for the recording 

of financial information of the Group.

8.	 Monthly review by the management – Key operating and financial performance of each business segment are reviewed 

by the management on monthly basis. Regular meetings are held to review the business and financial performance 

against forecasts and business strategies to be taken.

Based on the findings and recommendations from the external professional party and the Company’s internal audit department, 

and the representations made by the management, the Board is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the existing 

internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Throughout 2021, the Group has complied with “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guideline. 

Information about the Group’s ESG policies and performance in 2021 as set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance 

Report on pages 33 to 48 of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Board considers that maintaining regular and effective communication with shareholders is the key to establish shareholders’ 

confidence and attract new investors. This includes (i) the publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports; (ii) holding 

the annual general meeting and other general meetings, thereby providing a forum for shareholders of the Company to raise 

comments and exchange views with the Board; (iii) making latest updates and key information of the Company available 

on the website of the Company. In addition, the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong serves the shareholders regarding 

all share registration matters.

A summary of the principal provision of the Articles of Association is available on the website of the Company and the 

website of Stock Exchange. There has been no change to the Company’s constitutional documents during the year.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for direct communication between the Board and the shareholders. 

The Company encourages the participation of the shareholders through annual general meetings and other general meetings 

where the shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board and exercise their right to vote.

The Company held its annual general meeting on 10 May 2021 where the Chairman of the Board as well as chairman 

of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee were available to answer 

shareholders’ questions on the Group’s affairs. The Company also invited representatives of the external auditor of the 

Company to be present to answer shareholders’ questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of 

the auditor’s report and auditor independence.

The Company maintains a website at www.ga-holdings.com.hk, where updates on the Company’s business developments 

and operations, financial information and news may be found. Shareholders may also contact the Company Secretary to 

direct their written enquires.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy and procedures with effect from 22 March 2012. The 

policy and procedures are available on the website of the Company. Apart from proposing a person for election as director 

of the Company, pursuant to Article 58 of the Article of Association of the Company, an extraordinary general meeting 

(“EGM”) may be convened at the request of the Shareholders under the following conditions:

1.	 On the written requisition of any one or more members holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of 

the Company as at the date of deposit of the requisition;

2.	 The requisition must:

(a)	 Specify the object of the business to be transacted at the meeting; and

(b)	 Be signed by the requisitionist(s); and

(c)	 State the name(s) of the requisitionist(s); and the contact details and number of ordinary shares of the 

Company held by the requisitionist(s); and

(d)	 Be deposited at the company’s place of business at Unit 1007, Level 10, Tower I, Grand Century Place, 193 

Prince Edward Road West, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.

The Directors must proceed to convene an EGM within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition. If the 

Directors fail to convene the EGM within 21 days from the date of deposit, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) 

may convene the general meeting in the same manner, provided that the meeting so convened shall not be held after 

the expiration of two months from the date of deposit of the requisition. Any reasonable expenses incurred by 

the requisitionist(s) by reason of the failure of the directors duly to convene a meeting shall be reimbursed to the 

requistionist(s) by the Company.

3.	 If the Board fails to give Shareholders sufficient notice (i.e. not less than 21 days for the annual general meeting 

and/or passing special resolution(s) at the EGM, or not less than 14 days for passing an ordinary resolution(s) at 

the EGM), the meeting is deemed not to have been duly convened.

LOOKING FORWARD
The Board will review its corporate governance standards on a regular and timely basis and endeavors to take necessary 

actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including the provisions of the Corporate Governance 

Code introduced by the Stock Exchange.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
G.A. Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and Governance (hereinafter 

called “ESG”) Report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year 

2021”), with an aim to provide details of the system establishment and performance of the Group in respect of sustainable 

development to both the internal and external stakeholders.

This report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing 

the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, highlighted the environmental and social 

measures and activities of the Group during the Year 2021. Corporate governance is addressed separately in the Corporate 

Governance Report.

The Company is embracing the challenge of integrating its business objective – to become one of the top service providers 

and dealers in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) premium automobile industry – with its responsibilities to 

stakeholders, business partners, staff, and the communities in which it operates.

It sees these two goals as being complementary ones, and believes that by fulfilling its social responsibilities it will indeed 

move more powerfully towards establishing itself at the head of its industry. One way the Group is doing this is by helping 

to build stronger relationships between the countries and jurisdictions in which it operates, namely the PRC, Hong Kong 

and Singapore.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues. During the Year 2021, the Board, the management and 

the ESG responsible staff (“ESG Working Team”) evaluated the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and 

formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The oversight of the Board ensures that the management and 

the ESG Working Team can have all the right tools and resources to oversee the ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment on transparency and accountability, the Group has established an ESG Working 

Team which has clear terms of reference that set out the powers delegated to it by the Board. The Group highly values the 

opinions of each stakeholder which are regarded as the cornerstone for the development of the Group.

The ESG Working Team is primarily responsible for reviewing and supervising the ESG process and risk management of the 

Group. ESG governance matters and ESG-related issues are reviewed at the regular meeting during the Year 2021.

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of different stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment 

is conducted annually. The Group ensures various platforms, and channels of communication are used to reach, listen 

and respond to its key stakeholders. Through communication with the stakeholders, the Group is able to understand the 

expectations and concerns from its stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions, 

and to better assess and manage the resulting impacts of the business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality in ESG aspects through the following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the 

Group; (ii) key ESG areas prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) validation and determining material ESG 

issues based on the results of communication with the stakeholders.
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Engaging these steps can enhance the understanding of the degree of importance of the Group’s stakeholders to each material 

ESG issue, and can enable the Group to plan the sustainable development direction more comprehensively in the future.

Board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets

The progress of implementation and the performance of the goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time to 

time. Modification may be needed if the progress falls short of expectation or change of business operations. Effective 

communication about the goals and targets with key stakeholders such as employees, customers and suppliers are essential.

Setting strategic goals for the coming five years enables the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results of 

achieving the visions.

Setting targets require the ESG Working Team to carefully examine the attainability of the targets which should be weighed 

against the Group’s ambitions and goals.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
The report is centred on four principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment were conducted regularly to identify material ESG issues, 

and to ensure that these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this report have been collected prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social 

performance data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative sides of the performance have been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data collection and calculation methods have remained consistent 

throughout the years to facilitate comparability over time.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES
This report focus on reporting of ESG matters of ten companies, namely German Automobiles Limited (“GAL”), German 

Automobiles Pte Ltd (“GAPL”), Xiamen BMW Automobiles Service Co., Ltd (“XMBMW”), Fujian Xingbao Automobiles 

Sales and Service Co., Ltd. (“FJXB”), RUF China Automobiles Trading Ltd. (“RUFCN”), Fuzhou Euro Motors Sales and 

Service Co., Ltd. (“FZ EURO”), Quanzhou Fubao Automobiles Sales and Service Co., Ltd. (“QZ”), Longyan Zhongbao 

Automobiles Co., Ltd. (“LY”), Fujian Xingdebao Automobiles Sales and Service Co., Ltd. (“FJXDB”) and Shanghai Qianyou 

Trading Co., Ltd. (“QY”).

GAL is engaged in trading of motor vehicles, provision of car rental services and investment holding in Hong Kong. XMBMW 

and FJXB are engaged in performing repair and maintenance services of high-end automobiles in PRC. FZ EURO, QZ, LY 

and FJXDB is engaged in performing automobile dealership, exhibitions of high-end motor vehicles, provision of auto parts 

and after-sales services. QY is engaged in trading of auto accessories. GAPL is engaged in investment holding in Singapore. 

RUFCN is inactive.

This report has primarily highlighted the major performance and disclosure in Year 2021 for the four environmental aspects 

and eight social aspects.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Stakeholder engagement is a key success factor in formulating environmental and social strategy, defining the Group’s 

objectives, assessing materiality, and establishing policy. The Group’s key stakeholders include government and regulatory 

bodies, shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers and community. The Group has conducted a survey, discussed or 

communicated with stakeholders to understand their views and respond to their needs and expectations, evaluated and 

prioritised their inputs to improve the Group’s performance, and finally strived to provide value to the stakeholders.

Stakeholders Expectations Communication and feedback
   

Government and regulatory 

bodies

•	 Compliance with laws and regulations

•	 Tax payment in accordance with the 

laws

•	 Compliance operation

•	 Tax payment on time and in full

Shareholders •	 Implementation of corporate 

governance and create value

•	 Corporate transparency

•	 Optimising internal control and risk 

management

•	 Regular information disclosure

Customers •	 Customer information security

•	 Customer rights and interests 

protection

•	 Customer privacy protection

•	 Compliance marketing

Employees •	 Career development platform

•	 Remuneration and benefits

•	 Safe working environment

•	 Transparent promotion channel

•	 Competitive remuneration package

•	 To provide trainings for employees 

and strengthen their safety awareness

Suppliers •	 Integrity cooperation

•	 Business ethics and credit standing

•	 To build a responsible supply chain

•	 To perform the contract according to 

law

Community •	 Environmental protection

•	 Employment opportunities

•	 To use environmental protection and 

energy saving equipment

•	 To provide employment opportunities

Based on the stakeholder engagement and materiality matrix, the Group has identified issues with significant environmental 

and social impacts as well as significant issues concerned by the stakeholders.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
In Year 2021, the Group carried out materiality assessment on a number of ESG issues in order to identify which issues were 

crucial to the Group’s business and were of the utmost concerned by stakeholders. It helps the Group to ensure its business 

development meeting the expectations and requirements of stakeholders. The Group has identified 22 ESG issues covering 

environmental, social and operation, and has invited both internal and external stakeholders to assess the materiality of the 

ESG issues through a scoring tool and interviews. The Group’s management has reviewed the ranking of materiality of the 

ESG issues and then disclosed the result in this report. The results of materiality assessment prioritised stakeholder inputs 

and made the Group focused on the material aspects for actions, achievements and reporting.
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The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in the Year 2021:
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Environmental issues Social issues Operation issues
   

1.	 Greenhouse gas emissions

2.	 Energy consumption

3.	 Water consumption

4.	 Waste

5.	 Saving energy measures

6.	 Use of raw materials and packaging 

materials

7.	 Utilization of energy resources

8.	 Use of chemicals 

9.	 Local community engagement

10.	Community investment

11.	Occupational health and safety

12.	Labour standards in supply chain

13.	Training and development

14.	Employee welfare

15.	Inclusion and equal opportunities

16.	Talent attraction and retention 

17.	Economic value generated

18.	Corporate governance

19.	Anti-corruption

20.	Supply chain management

21.	Customer satisfaction

22.	Customer privacy

EMISSIONS
The Group believes that increased environmental awareness is the key to environmental protection and wellness to the 

general community. It is the Group’s policy to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations relating to the 

protection of environment and to minimise the Group environmental footprint through efficient use of resources. The Group 

endeavours to promote environmental conscientiousness not just to employees but to its car tenants as well. Given the 

nature of the Group’s business, the Company believes that its operations have minimal adverse impact on the environment. 

The Group dealer shops are all located in specific areas designated for the use of the automobile industry as authorised by 

the PRC government. These areas are equipped with high technological facilities that could facilitate the efficient use of 

natural resources and protection of local environment. The Company is not aware of any material non-compliance with the 

relevant laws and regulations in relation to emissions of excessive greenhouse gas, discharge of hazardous gas or wastage 

in the Year 2021.
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During the Year 2021, air emission for nitrogen oxides (“NOX”), sulphur oxides (“SOX”) and particulate matter (“PM”) were 

mainly generated from the combustion sources of motor vehicles of the Group. The table below shows the key environmental 

performance indicators of different types of air emissions emitted by the Group’s operation during the Year 2021.

Air emissions Unit Year 2021 Year 2020
    

NOX emissions Kg 741 663

SOX emissions Kg 3.4 4.2

PM emission Kg 54 56
    

Reduction target of air emissions

Air emissions Reduction target Baseline year Status
    

NOX emissions intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

SOX emissions intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

PM emission intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions refer to the sum of carbon dioxide (“CO2”) emission and the CO2 equivalent emissions 

of methane (“CH4”) and nitrous oxide (“N2O”). GHG emissions are categorised into direct emissions and indirect emissions.

The main sources of direct GHG emission from operations are the use of motor vehicles owned or controlled by the Group. 

The main sources of indirect GHG emission from operations are the use of purchased electricity, paper waste disposed at 

landfills, electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage water by government departments. The Group promotes 

conscious use of electricity cars to reduce direct GHG emission.

The table below shows the key environmental performance indicators of GHG emission emitted by the Group’s operation 

during the Year 2021.

GHG emissions Unit Year 2021 Year 2020
    

Total GHG emissions kg CO2e 4,417,295 4,455,505

Total area of operations M2 44,867 45,299

GHG emissions intensity (per total area of operations) kg CO2e/M2 99 98

Direct emissions due to combustion of fuels in mobile sources (Scope 1) kg CO2e 514,335 672,325

Indirect emissions due to consumption of purchased electricity (Scope 2) kg CO2e 3,774,242* 3,715,000

Other indirect emissions due to paper waste disposed at landfills, electricity 

used for processing fresh water and sewage water and air travelling  

(Scope 3) kg CO2e 128,718 68,180
    

Scope 1:	 It represents the gasoline and diesel oil consumed by motor vehicles.

Scope 2:	 It represents the electricity purchased from power suppliers.

Scope 3:	 It represents the paper waste disposed at landfills, water used and other indirect emission.

*	 The emission factor is sourced from the CLP Power Hong Kong Limited sustainability reports for 2020, HK Electric Investments 

sustainability reports for 2020 and China Eastern Power Grid in 2019. The figures are calculated in accordance with the “Reporting 

Guidance on Environmental KPIs”.
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Reduction target of GHG emissions

GHG emissions Reduction target Baseline year Status
    

GHG emission intensity (Scope 1) Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

GHG emission intensity (Scope 2) Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

GHG emission intensity (Scope 3) Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

Waste Unit Year 2021 Year 2020
    

Total non-hazardous waste produced Kg 44,601 35,641

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity (per total area of operations) Kg/M2 0.99 0.79

Total hazardous waste produced Kg 150,573 124,714

Hazardous waste produced intensity (per total area of operations) Kg/M2 3.36 2.75
    

Reduction target of hazardous and non-hazardous waste produced

Waste Reduction target Baseline year Status
    

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

Hazardous waste produced intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

The Group’s car selling and servicing businesses are carried out to very high levels of cleanliness and attention to the 

environment. For instance, waste products such as used car parts and used motor oil are disposed of according to all relevant 

local regulations, and with scrupulous attention to avoiding pollution and minimising any impact on the environment. Very 

high standards are also maintained in areas such as the drainage of waste water from car cleaning operations, and the use 

of organic solvents in car painting activities.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance, Regulation on Urban Drainage 

and Sewage Treatment of the PRC (《中華人民共和國城鎮排水與污水處理條例》) and other applicable laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharging into water and land, generation of 

hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Group during the Year 2021.

In addition, no significant fines or non-monetary sanction for non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations has been 

reported in the Year 2021.
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USE OF RESOURCES
Gasoline

The automobile industry as a whole, by its underlying nature, is implicated in global emissions. However, the Group, as a 

car-dealer, distributes high-end and high-quality mass-market vehicles manufactured by the very best European manufacturers, 

most of which are at the cutting edge of advances in reducing emissions and developing clean engine technology. By distributing 

these types of vehicles and providing excellent and efficient services, and genuine replacement parts to keep its cars running 

at optimum efficiency, the Group is in a small way contributing to improving the environment in China, which has long 

been plagued by inefficient and highly polluting vehicles. The Group is proud that the high-end vehicles it distributes are 

some of the most efficient and technically advanced in terms of minimizing environmental impact in the world.

The Group owns approximately 321 motor vehicles as at 31 December 2021 and most of them are run by unleaded petrol 

while only few are unavoidably run by diesel oil. During the Year 2021, a total of approximately 206,940 litres of unleaded 

petrol and approximately 19,301 litres of diesel oil were consumed.

Electricity

The Group endeavors to conserve energy by utilising energy efficient equipment and light fixtures. All the Group dealer 

shops and offices are required to keep in-door temperature at 25 Degree Celsius to ensure efficient use of air conditioning 

while employees are encouraged to save energy by turning off lights and equipment when not in use.

Electricity consumed by the Group for normal business operations was mainly supplied by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited, 

The Hongkong Electric Co. Ltd and other governmental electricity suppliers in Fujian Province.

Water

The Group’s business operations do not require any significant water usage and water consumption by the Group for the 

year involved mainly bottled drinking water uses and servicing of motor vehicles at its dealer shops and office premises.

Paper

The Group encourages employees to go paperless as much as possible by limiting printouts and communicating through e-mail 

or other telecommunication systems. While the Group has not developed any dedicated recycling program for paper use, 

employees are encouraged to re-use papers for internal record and documentation. During the Year 2021, the Group used 

a total of approximately 14,597 kg (2020: 8,800 kg) of paper in the course of normal business operations. Since 2015, the 

Group has been using FSC-certified papers in bulk-printing its annual report to further support environmental protection.

The below table shows the key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s use of resources during the Year 2021.

Total use of resources consumed Unit Year 2021 Year 2020
    

Purchased electricity consumed kWh 4,771,367 4,445,000

Non-renewable fuel consumed kWh 2,212,115 2,756,509

Total energy consumption kWh 6,983,482 7,201,509

Total energy consumption intensity (per total area of operations) kWh/M2 156 159

Amount of water consumption m3 39,957 37,200

Water consumption intensity (per total area of operations) m3/M2 0.89 0.82

Total packaging material used for finished products kg 40 36

Packaging material consumption intensity (per total area of operations) Kg/Total 

area of 

operations

0.001 0.001

    



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

40

Reduction target of energy use

Environmental KPI Reduction target Baseline year Status
    

Total energy consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

Water consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

Packaging material consumption intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2026 Year 2021 In progress

Regarding measures to mitigate emissions, the Group closely monitors the level of energy consumption, GHG emissions, 

wastes disposal and sewage water drainage. The Group has set its respective energy and carbon reduction targets and come 

up with feasible measures to achieve them. The details and results achieved are listed as follows:

Projects Details and results achieved

Light-emitting diode (LED) Part of lightings in the office in Hong Kong has been installed with LED, instead of 

compact fluorescent lamps, to reduce electricity consumption.

Air-conditioners More energy efficient air conditioners were selected in Year 2021 thus reducing the 

relevant consumption of electricity.

Water conservation All staff was encouraged to save water at pantry. As a result, relevant consumption of 

water has been reduced.

Motor vehicles The Group has a plan to replace the petrol motor vehicles to electric motor vehicles to 

reduce air emission for NO x, SO x, PM and GHG.

Non-hazardous waste Non-hazardous waste from the office in Hong Kong and PRC subsidiaries include 

consumables, household wastes, paper and paper boxes. The office in Hong Kong 

and PRC subsidiaries have made their best effort to minimise their impact on the 

environment by using recyclable paper and paper boxes.

Hazardous waste By replacing petrol motor vehicles with electric motor vehicles, less lubricating oil which 

is used in engine, gear box will be discharged.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
The Group understands that its performance in respect of emissions, waste produced, and use of resources impacts the 

environment. The Group endeavours to minimise such impacts, and communicate the Group’s environmental policy, 

measures, performance, and achievements to the stakeholders. The Group is committed to reducing the operational impacts 

on environment and natural resources.

CLIMATE CHANGE
Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one of the most discussed topics among companies. The Group 

is no exception, having increasing concerns over the potential impact from climate change on the Group’s business and 

operations. The Group regularly reviews global and local government policies, regulatory updates and market trends to 

identify potential climate-related risks which may have impact on the Group’s business operation.
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In accordance with the reporting framework developed by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are 

two major categories of climate-related risks, physical and transition risks. The Group will immediately develop a response 

plan such as changing the business strategy and modifying the development plan in order to reduce the negative impacts 

of such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in its business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient 

resources for managing identified climate-related risks and studying the potential remediation measures.

During the Year 2021, there is no climate-related risk, including physical and transitional risks, which have significant 

impact to the Group.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
The quality of its employees is a major asset for the Group, especially for the industry in which quality and prestige is 

what differentiates itself from its competitors. The Group values their staff and take all possible measures to retain them, in 

particular by offering them good career advancement opportunities and an attractive, employee-friendly working environment. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 786 (2020: 757) staff, made up of 755 in the PRC, 25 in Hong 

Kong and 6 in Singapore. Of them, 542 were providing sales, technical and customer services, with the remaining being 

involved in management, administration, finance and other supporting roles.

The Group employed 444 men and 342 women as at 31 December 2021. Currently the ratio of men to women employed by 

the Group is around 1.3:1 (2020: 1.7:1) which reveals the fact that most qualified mechanics and auto technician professionals 

in China are still dominated by male. However, the Group comply with all equal opportunity laws and regulations in the 

areas where the Group operate, and are committed to offering equal pay for men and women doing equivalent jobs.

The Group, as a conscientious and responsible employer, has a strong sense to nurture the next generation so as to contribute 

to the society. The Group, therefore, have developed an internship program aiming at equipping young adults with the skills 

and knowledge that are required in the commercial enterprises and locating the outstanding and talented interns to join the 

Group as full-time employees. Selected interns are assigned to work in one or two departments according to their interests 

and strengths for three to six months. Performance evaluations are conducted by the head of each user department before 

the internship ends. Outstanding interns graduated with good results and meeting the Group’s qualification requirements 

will be first invited to join the Group on a permanent basis. In Year 2021, 22 interns are hired within the Group (2020: 2).

Apart from offering employees competitive salary packages, the Group also provides generous annual performance bonuses 

and on occasions provides operational staff with group tours. The Company has adopted a share option scheme; aimed 

at providing incentives to existing staff and helping the Group attract new high-calibre candidates. The Group is a family 

friendly employer, and in general operates according to a basic five-day working week. It also lays on regular gatherings 

such as sports days, staff birthday parties and an annual dinner etc. for its staff, and offers flexible leave arrangements to 

enable staff to pursue professional examinations and other career advancement avenues. The benefits of making the Group 

an excellent working environment for employees can be seen in its very stable staff turnover rates, and the high proportion 

of long-term employees.
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The compositions of the Group’s workforce categorised by gender, age, categories of employment, location, type of employment 

and department as of 31 December 2021 are stated as follows:

By gender By age group

44%
56%

Female

Male

34%

10%

Under 20 years old

21 - 30 years old

31 - 40 years old

41 - 50 years old

Over 50 years old

4%4%

48%

By employment category By location

10%
87%

Senior Level

Middle Level

Entry Level

3% 1%96%

Hong Kong

Singapore

China

3%

By employment type By department

2%

97%

Full time

Part time

Internship

1% 7%10%
4%

3%

Management

Finance

Sales and Marketing

Logistics

Customers Services

Technical

Warehouse

Human Resources

Others26%29%

1%

14%

6%
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During the Year 2021, the Group’s annually employee turnover rate is as follows:

Employee turnover rate Year 2021
  

By gender (Note 1)

Male 30%

Female 27%

By employment type (Note 1)

Full time 29%

Part time –

Internship 27%

By age group (Note 1)

Under 20 years old 41%

Aged between 20 to 30 years old 40%

Aged between 31 to 40 years old 24%

Aged between 41 to 50 years old 14%

Over 50 years old 15%

By geographical region (Note 1)

Hong Kong 4%

China 30%

Singapore –
  

Note 1:	 The employee turnover rate is calculated based on the number of employees who left employment in such category during the 

Reporting Period divided by total number of employees as at 31 December 2021 in such category.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employees’ 

Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong, Labour Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國勞動法》), Labour Contract Law of the 

PRC (《中華人民共和國勞動合同法》), Employment Act of Singapore and other applicable laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal 

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare on the Group in the Year 2021.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in Year 2021.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
The health and safety of its employees are of a very high priority. To this end, the Group has looked closely at the safety 

rules and procedures most appropriate for the industry, and adapted them to the context of the operations. The Group 

operates in more than one jurisdiction (Hong Kong, Singapore and the PRC), the Group has also looked closely at the 

different regulations for each area to ensure the Group abide by all local legal requirements. In respect of the communities 

where the Group operates, the Group encourages volunteerism and encourages the employees to serve the communities in 

their leisure time.
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The below table shows the work-related fatalities and recordable injury for the three years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 

and 2021.

Notification of accident Year 2021 Year 2020 Year 2019
    

Number of work-related fatalities – – –

Rate of work-related fatalities – – –

Lost days due to work injury 153 days 260 days 104 days
    

During the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019, the Group strictly adopts various prevention policies such as: (i) measuring 

the body temperature of staff and guest when entering into office area; (ii) registering entries and exits of personal’s health 

condition; (iii) frequent cleaning of office area; and (iv) wearing masks by all staff before entering in to office area.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Prevention and 

Control of Occupational Diseases of the PRC (《中華人民共和國職業病防治法》) and other applicable laws and regulations 

that have a significant impact on providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards 

of the Group in Year 2021.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in Year 2021.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
As vehicle designs change and their technical specifications become more proprietary and increasingly complex, the Group 

utilise the skills of the senior technical staff by commissioning them to provide on-the-job training and guidance for less 

experienced staff. In addition, visiting BMW representatives provided regular theoretical training. Continuous training on 

repair and maintenance procedures, monitored by engineers of BMW Germany on site, is given to the technicians. These are 

regularly assessed to ensure they master the standards of the premium automobile manufacturers whose vehicles the Group 

distributes. Customer service and sales personnel are also provided with specialist training in the automobiles and parts 

that the Group sell. The result is a win-win situation: the Group ensures the Group services are leading the field, while at 

the same time the employees are stimulated and challenged to perform to their best potential.

Below is the list of training topics provided by the Group in the Year 2021:

•	 Business etiquette and customer services training

•	 Parts and repairing training

•	 New high voltage electricity unit and repairing training

•	 Sales and marketing strategy training

•	 Performance review training

•	 Other on the job training
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During the Year 2021, the Group’s employee training rate is as follows:

Year 2021
  

Percentage of employees trained (Note 1) 29%

Percentage of employees trained by gender (Note 2)

Male 70%

Female 30%

Percentage of employees trained by employment category (Note 2)

Senior level 7%

Middle level 13%

Entry level 80%
  

Note 1:	 It is calculated by dividing the number of employees who took part in training by the number of employees as at 31 December 2021.

Note 2:	 It is calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in such category by the total number of employees who took part in 

training as at 31 December 2021.

The average training hours per employee grouped by gender and employee category in the Year 2021 are as follows:

Year 2021
  

Total number of training hours 1,946

Average training hours per employee (Note 1) 2.5

Average training hours per employee by gender (Note 2)

Male 3.1

Female 1.7

Average training hours per employee by employment category (Note 2)

Senior level 3.0

Middle level 4.9

Entry level 2.2
  

Note 1:	 It is calculated by dividing the total number of hours of training by the total number of employees as at 31 December 2021.

Note 2:	 It is calculated by dividing the number of employees received training in the specified category by the total number of employees 

received training as at 31 December 2021.
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LABOUR STANDARDS
The Group strictly complies with the relevant labour regulations relating to working hours, rest days and holidays to ensure 

the physical and mental health of all employees. Employees are not forced to work beyond working hours and are entitled 

to overtime pay in accordance with local regulations. The Group has a “No Child Labour” policy and does not employ 

persons under the age of 16.

To prevent the exploitation of child, human resources department staff checks the identity card of all permanent employees.

Employment by the Group is based on the principle of fairness, openness and willingness. All individuals enter into employment 

contracts without acts of forced labour.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employment of 

Children Regulations of Hong Kong, Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China (《中華人民共和國勞動法》), the Provisions 

on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (《禁止使用童工規定》), Employment Act of Singapore and other applicable laws 

and regulations that preventing from employment of child or forced labour on the Group in Year 2021.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or sanctions had been reported in Year 2021.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
The Group has set up a strict supply chain management system to ensure that high quality products and services are provided 

to the customers. All the major suppliers are qualified, reputable and reliable suppliers. The Group operates with the 

suppliers’ specified standardised stock replenishment and management systems which strongly strengthened the sustainability 

and reliability of the quality of the products and services the Group provides to the customers.

The Group complies with various PRC regulations and suppliers’ international standards relevant to the operation of its 

business in areas such as health and safety relating to its products and services. With regular trainings and updates delivered 

by the suppliers as well as in house training, the technicians, customer service representatives and sales personnel are well 

trained and the quality of the products and services are guaranteed.

In situations where several companies can meet its project requirements, the Group will select those with a good reputation 

for being environmentally and socially responsible and/or that hold environmental certification. The Group supports in its 

efforts to further improve their environmental protection which has the greatest respect for the laws and regulations that 

govern its business. The Group always adheres to good practices and conducts fair and unbiased procurement processes 

when dealing with suppliers.

During the Year 2021, the number of suppliers categorised by geographical regions are as follows:

Social KPI Year 2021
  

China Over 40

Hong Kong –

Singapore –
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
The Group strives to maintain a high level of customer satisfaction. Collecting feedback from the customers is critical 

for monitoring customer satisfaction. The Group has conducted customer satisfaction survey, follow up procedures and 

improvement measures are maintained and implemented. Customers are encouraged to provide the Group with comments 

and ideas for improvements. The Group provides a variety of communication channels like, social media, phone hotline, 

emails and websites. Meanwhile, strict confidential system and guidelines have been established and imposed by the Group 

to secure these customers information collected.

During the Year 2021, the numbers of complaint and recall case are as follows:

Social KPI Year 2021
  

Number of complaint 1

Number of recall –
  

The Group consolidated and comprehensively analysed the customers’ feedback and monitor the level of customer satisfaction 

in its business. Follow-up actions, including internal evaluation and modification of training programs for employees, 

formulation of improvement plan and refining the existing management procedures will be taken to address the identified 

issues. Feedback will be provided to the customers in a timely manner.

The Group acknowledges the stakeholders’ concern of data privacy, therefore puts great effort to protect data privacy 

to safeguard the corporate interest and comply with the relevant laws and regulations. The Group outlines data privacy 

requirements and confidentiality obligations in its internal control policy that employees should strictly follow and carefully 

manage the corporate confidential information, including but not limited to, customer business information and personal 

data, trade secrets and price-sensitive information.

The Group is committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations in relation to intellectual property right (“IP 

rights”) by valuing and protecting its intellectual properties through renewals of patent and trademark. In order to ensure 

that the customer’s IP rights of products are properly protected during the outsourcing processes to suppliers, a confidentiality 

agreement regarding IP rights must be signed before engagement. The Group enters standard employment contracts with its 

employees who contain provisions on IP rights and confidentiality.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Trade Descriptions 

Ordinance, Copyright Ordinance, Prevention of Copyright Piracy Ordinance, Personal Information Protection Law of the 

PRC (《中華人民共和國個人信息保護法》), Regulation on the Implementation of the Copyright Law of the PRC (《中華人
民共和國著作權法實施條例》) and other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact relating to health 

and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress on 

the Group in Year 2021.

In addition, no significant fines had been reported in Year 2021.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION
The Group maintains a high standard of business integrity throughout its operations. The Group has established a 

whistleblowing policy and communicated to its employees. At the same time, the Group strictly adheres to the rules and 

regulations relating to anti-corruption and fraudulent behaviors as set out by the relevant authorities.

In Year 2021, the Group provided a 1.5 hours anti-corruption training held by Independent Commission Against Corruption 

(“ICAC”) to its management team and staff in Hong Kong during the Year 2021.

During the Year 2021, the number of the anti-corruption’s training is as follows:

Year 2021
  

Number of employees attended anti-corruption training 15

Number of employees attended anti-corruption training by department category

Management 2

Finance 4

Customers services 7

Human resources 2
  

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, Criminal Law of the PRC 

《中華人民共和國刑法》, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC 《中華人民共和國反洗錢法》, Anti-Unfair Competition 

Law of the PRC 《中華人民共和國反不正當競爭法》, Interim Provisions on Banning Commercial Bribery 《關於禁止商業賄
賂行為的暫行規定》and other applicable laws and regulations that has a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, 

extortion, fraud and money laundering in Year 2021.

There was no legal case concerning corruption brought against the Group or its employees in Year 2021.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
The Group aims to help creating a harmonious, dynamic and liveable environment for the communities in which the Group 

operates by developing and managing properties that take into account of the local culture, environment and community’s 

priorities. The Group maintains an appropriate level of community involvement and provides support to community activities 

and encourages employees to take part into work-life balance activities and community services.

Although the Group has not established and documented a specific community policy, social care is deeply seeded in the 

Group’s corporate culture. Employees are encouraged to participate in various charitable events and community services.
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To the members of G.A. Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of G.A. Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 143, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as 

at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 

then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements 

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 

Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 

on these matters.
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Recoverability of amounts due from Zhong Bao Group

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 4.8, critical accounting estimates and judgments in note 5 and the disclosure 

of the amounts due from Zhong Bao Group in notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has gross balance due from Zhong Bao Group of 

approximately HK$825,861,000 as at 31 December 2021.

The management assesses the recoverability of the amounts 

due on a regular basis and apply an impairment model 

to calculate their expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessing 

the provision of ECL. Management exercises significant 

judgment on the selection of unobservable data inputs to this 

impairment model including probability of default, exposure 

at default, loss given default and discount rate.

Management has determined that the ECL allowance in respect 

of the amounts due from Zhong Bao Group for the year ended 

31 December 2021 of HK$3,860,000 has been recognised to 

profit or loss and approximately HK$12,203,000 has been 

recognised as at 31 December 2021.

We identified the recoverability of the amounts due from 

Zhong Bao Group as a key audit matter because of its 

significance to the consolidated financial statements and 

critical judgments required in assessing the ultimate realisation 

of the receivables, including the creditworthiness and the past 

collection history of Zhong Bao Group.

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s 

recoverability assessment included:

– 	 obtaining an understanding of the key data and assumptions 

of the ECL model adopted by management, including 

the basis of the segmentation of the trade receivables 

and advances based on credit risk characteristics, the 

historical default data, and the assumptions involved in 

management’s estimated loss rate;

–	 discussed with management to understand the 

management’s identification of significant increase in 

credit risk and defaults, corroborated management’s 

explanation with supporting evidence;

–	 reviewing the historical settlement record of Zhong Bao 

Group;

–	 obtaining the pledge agreement signed between the Group 

and Zhong Bao Group and assessing the sufficiency of 

the collateral in place; and

–	 assessing the reasonableness of management’s lifetime ECL 

allowance estimates on trade receivables and management’s 

12-month ECL allowance on advances estimates by 

examining the information used by management to form 

such judgments, including testing the accuracy of the 

historical default data.
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Recognition of vendor rebates

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 4.18, critical accounting estimates and judgments in note 5 and the disclosure 

of the rebate receivables in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group receives vendor rebates under various and different 

arrangements from automobile manufacturers. Rebate 

arrangements, which can vary in different fiscal years and 

between automobile manufacturers, include volume based 

purchase rebates, sales rebates for certain specific car models 

and other specific rebates.

The Group recognises vendor rebates with reference to the 

entitlement conditions set by the automobile manufacturers. 

As at 31 December 2021, the rebate receivables recognised 

in the consolidated statement of financial position amounted 

to HK$69,496,000.

We identified recognition of vendor rebates as a key audit 

matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial 

statements and because there are many different kinds of 

rebate arrangements in place and critical judgments are 

required in estimating the rebate receivables with reference 

to the entitlement conditions.

Our audit procedures included:

–	 obtaining an understanding of the design and 

implementation of management’s key internal controls 

in relation to the recognition of vendor rebates;

–	 assessing the rebate policies in respect of the recognition 

of vendor rebates by inspecting the terms and conditions 

set out in each type of rebate arrangement communicated 

by the respective automobile manufacturers with reference 

to the prevailing accounting standards; and

–	 checking the calculation of the rebate receivables based 

on the rebate policies.
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information in the 2021 

annual report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for no other purpose. 

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 

will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 

control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 

the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

22 March 2022

Lin Ching Yee Daniel

Practising Certificate No.: P02771
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Revenue 6 2,588,968 2,264,306

Other income 8 50,736 45,323
    

2,639,704 2,309,629

Changes in inventories 10.1 21,177 (51,413)

Auto parts and accessories, and motor vehicles purchased 10.1 (2,248,990) (1,907,182)

Employee benefit expenses 13 (132,365) (105,709)

Depreciation and amortisation (61,062) (59,625)

Lease charges (6,075) (4,795)

Exchange differences, net (1,518) 896

ECL allowance on trade and other receivables 10.3 (3,860) (8,367)

Other expenses 9 (82,013) (59,373)
    

Profit from operations 124,998 114,061

Finance costs 10.2 (34,665) (34,508)
    

Profit before income tax 10 90,333 79,553

Income tax expense 11 (24,900) (26,742)
    

Profit for the year 65,433 52,811
    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Equity investments at FVOCI – net movement in fair value reserves 

(non-recycling) 37 2,008 2,502

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange gain on translation of financial statements of foreign 

operations 23,739 48,078
    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 25,747 50,580
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 91,180 103,391
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 65,433 52,811
    

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 91,180 103,391
    

HK cents HK cents

Earnings per share

Basic and diluted 12 13.74 11.09
    

The notes on pages 62 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
    

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 209,647 211,941

Intangible asset 15 12,230 14,256

Prepaid expenses 16 12,844 13,041

Right-of-use assets 17 225,899 241,815

Goodwill 18 6,902 6,705

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income 19 13,418 11,056

Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 17,059 –
    

497,999 498,814
    

Current assets

Inventories 20 166,979 145,802

Trade receivables 21 118,702 165,864

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 22 940,787 779,969

Tax recoverable 590 1,660

Pledged deposits 23 135,066 134,301

Cash and bank balances 23 102,804 40,405
    

1,464,928 1,268,001
    

Current liabilities

Trade payables 24 53,452 57,774

Lease liabilities 25 12,782 14,418

Contract liabilities 26 117,832 100,513

Accruals and other payables 27 56,832 47,822

Bills payables 24 170,083 137,826

Borrowings 28 569,153 510,671

Advance from a director 29 2,750 2,140

Tax payable 12,810 16,198
    

995,694 887,362
    

Net current assets 469,234 380,639
    

Total assets less current liabilities 967,233 879,453
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
as at 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 28 4,815 4,489

Lease liabilities 25 131,355 133,783

Deferred tax liabilities 30 15,251 16,549
    

151,421 154,821
    

Net assets 815,812 724,632
    

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 31 47,630 47,630

Reserves 32 768,182 677,002
    

Total equity 815,812 724,632
    

Yuen Kin Pheng Choy Choong Yew

Director Director

The notes on pages 62 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium*

Capital 
reserve*

Statutory 
reserve*

Other 
reserve*

Translation 
reserve*

Fair value 
reserve –  

non-
recycling*

Retained 
profits*

Total 
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note 32) (note 32) (note 32) (note 32) (note 32)

          

At 1 January 2020 47,630 29,522 8,623 47,008 (10,735) (34,412) – 533,570 621,206
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 52,811 52,811
Other comprehensive income:
Equity investments at FVOCI – net movement in fair 

value reserves (non-recycling) – – – – – – 2,502 – 2,502
Exchange gain on translation of financial statements 

of foreign operations – – – – – 48,078 – – 48,078
          

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 48,078 2,502 52,811 103,391
          

Transaction with owners:
Appropriation to statutory reserve – – – 9,302 – – – (9,302) –
Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends – – – – – – – 35 35

          

Total transactions with owners – – – 9,302 – – – (9,267) 35
          

At 31 December 2020 47,630 29,522 8,623 56,310 (10,735) 13,666 2,502 577,114 724,632
          

At 1 January 2021 47,630 29,522 8,623 56,310 (10,735) 13,666 2,502 577,114 724,632
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 65,433 65,433
Other comprehensive income:
Equity investments at FVOCI – net movement in fair 

value reserves (non-recycling) – – – – – – 2,008 – 2,008
Exchange gain on translation of financial statements 

of foreign operations – – – – – 23,739 – – 23,739
          

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – 23,739 2,008 65,433 91,180
          

Transaction with owners:
Appropriation to statutory reserve – – – 8,754 – – – (8,754) –

          

Total transactions with owners – – – 8,754 – – – (8,754) –
          

At 31 December 2021 47,630 29,522 8,623 65,064 (10,735) 37,405 4,510 633,793 815,812
          

*	 These equity accounts comprise the reserves of HK$768,182,000 (2020: HK$677,002,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2021.

The notes on pages 62 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



60

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
 for the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax 90,333 79,553

Adjustments for:

Finance costs 34,665 34,508

Bank interest income (1,589) (1,315)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5,335) (4,976)

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (1,841) (417)

Gain on termination of leases – (612)

Written-off of property, plant and equipment 6,617 –

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 30,103 29,706

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 28,547 27,667

Amortisation of intangible asset 2,412 2,252

(Reversal of)/ECL allowance on trade receivables (266) 1,787

ECL allowance on other receivables 4,126 6,580
   

Operating profit before working capital changes 187,772 174,733

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (16,953) 60,043

Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables 51,667 (25,378)

Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (132,136) (192,995)

Decrease in trade payables (8,051) (21,213)

Increase in bills payables 27,804 19,293

Increase in contract liabilities 14,280 23,371

Increase/(Decrease) in accruals and other payables 5,616 (7,065)
   

Cash generated from operations 129,999 30,789

Interest received 1,589 1,315

Interest paid for borrowings (26,585) (27,252)

Finance charges for leases liabilities (8,080) (7,256)

Income tax paid (31,574) (47,495)
   

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 65,349 (49,899)
   



61

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
 for the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (43,077) (34,578)

Decrease/(Increase) in pledged deposits 3,148 (10,661)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 19,681 18,148

Proceeds of disposal of right-of-use assets 3,645 1,114

Additions of deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (17,059) –
   

Net cash used in investing activities (33,662) (25,977)
   

Cash flows from financing activities

Forfeiture of unclaimed dividends – 35

New borrowings raised 1,336,800 1,764,410

Repayment of borrowings (1,292,945) (1,746,601)

Advance from a director 539 529

Payment of lease liabilities (14,666) (26,385)
   

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 29,728 (8,012)
   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 61,415 (83,888)

Translation adjustments 984 8,123

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 40,405 116,170
   

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year, represented by cash and 

bank balances 102,804 40,405
   

The notes on pages 62 to 143 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
G.A. Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law of the 

Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on 5 July 2001. The registered office of the Company 

is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and its 

principal place of business is Unit 1007, Level 10, Tower I, Grand Century Place, 193 Prince Edward Road West, 

Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sales of motor vehicles and provision 

of car-related technical services, servicing of motor vehicles, sales of auto parts and provision of car rental services.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved and authorised for issue 

by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2022.

2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
2.1	 Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2021

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are relevant to the Group’s operations and 

effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, 

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7, 

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

In addition, on 1 January 2021, the Group has early applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related 

Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021” which is mandatorily effective for the Group for financial year 

beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and financial position of 

the Group for the current and prior periods have been prepared and presented.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

– Phase 2” (“Phase 2 Amendments”)

The Phase 2 Amendments provide practical relief from certain requirements in HKFRSs. These reliefs relate 

to modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities (measured at amortised costs) and lease contracts 

or hedging relationships triggered by a replacement of a benchmark interest rate in a contract with a new 

alternative benchmark risk-free rate.

The Group initially applied Phase 2 Amendments on 1 January 2021 and applied the amendments retrospectively. 

However, in accordance with the exceptions permitted in Phase 2 Amendments, the Group has elected not 

to restate the prior period to reflect the application of these amendments, including not providing additional 

disclosures for 2020. There is no impact on opening equity balances as a result of retrospective application.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
2.1	 Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2021 (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

– Phase 2” (“Phase 2 Amendments”) (Continued)

Impact on measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and financial liabilities 

which are measured at amortised cost as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the 

practical expedient to account for these changes such that it will not derecognise the carrying amounts of 

financial assets and financial liabilities and recognise an immediate gain or loss for changes solely arose 

from the interest rate benchmark reform, but will instead revise the effective interest rates of the financial 

assets and financial liabilities. A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows is required 

by interest rate benchmark reform if the following conditions are met:

•	 The change is necessary as a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform; and

•	 The new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous 

basis (i.e. the basis immediately before the change).

For other changes made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to the basis for 

determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark reform, the Group first applies 

the practical expedient to the changes required by interest rate benchmark reform by updating the effective 

interest rate. The Group then applies the applicable requirements in HKFRS 9 on modification of a financial 

asset or a financial liability to the additional changes to which the practical expedient does not apply.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)(Continued)
2.2	 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs 

have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related amendments2

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework4

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and 

HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 

Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates2

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction2

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use1

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract1

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-20201

Accounting Guideline 5 

(Revised)

Merger Accounting for Common Control Combination4

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

3	 Effective date not yet determined

4	 Effective for business combinations/common control combination for which the acquisition/combination date is on 

or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy 

for the first period beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new and 

amended HKFRSs that are expected to have impact on the Group’s accounting policies is provided below. 

Other new and amended HKFRSs are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



65

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)(Continued)
2.2	 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and related amendments 

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify how to classify debt and other liabilities as current or 

non-current which are summarised as follows:

•	 It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity have a right (instead of unconditional right as 

stated before the amendments) to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months from the 

end of the reporting period. This right has to be existed at the end of the reporting period, regardless 

of whether the lender tests for compliance at that date or at a later date;

•	 Any expectations about events after the reporting period do not impact the assessment made at the 

end of the reporting period as to the classification of the liability; and

•	 “Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to the counterparty that results in the extinguishment of 

the liability. The transfer could be of cash, other economic resources (e.g. goods or services), or entity’s 

own equity instruments. Thus, if the counterparty conversion option is classified as liability under 

HKAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by exercising the conversion option constitute settlement 

of liability for the purpose of current or non-current classification of liabilities. One exception to 

the definition is that if the counterparty conversion option is classified as equity in accordance with 

HKAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by exercising the conversion option does not constitute 

settlement of liability and would be disregarded when determining whether the liabilities is current 

or non-current.

Amendments to HKAS 1 is effective for annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and 

apply retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The directors of the Group expect that the amendments 

have no material impact on these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose material accounting policy information instead of 

significant accounting policies in its financial statements. The amendments also provide some guidance on 

how material policy information are being identified and provide some examples of when accounting policy 

information is likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” to provide 

entities with non-mandatory guidance on how to make materiality judgements when preparing their general 

purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS. HKFRS Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised 

to provide guidance and examples on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 

and are applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted. Except for the disclosures of accounting policies 

in note 4 to consolidated financial statements may need to be revised to cope with the above changes, the 

directors expect that the amendments have no other material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



66

2.	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)(Continued)
2.2	 Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption of deferred tax in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” 

does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as 

lease contracts that give rise to the recognition of a lease liability and the corresponding right-of-use assets 

and contracts that give rise to the recognition of decommissioning obligations and corresponding amounts 

recognised as assets. Instead, entities are required to recognise the related deferred tax asset and liability on 

initial recognition, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability criteria 

in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier 

application is permitted. The Group has commenced an assessment of the impact of the amendments, but not 

yet in a position to state whether they would have a significant impact on its results and financial position.

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in 

accounting estimates by introducing a definition for accounting estimates, which is now defined as “monetary 

amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates 

by specifying that an entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting 

policy. Accounting estimates typically involve the use of judgements or assumptions based on latest available 

reliable information. A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new development 

is not correction of an error. Therefore, the effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique 

used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not result from the 

correction of prior period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples are added to illustrate how to apply 

the new definition of accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and are 

applied prospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The directors expect that the amendments have no 

material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



67

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

3.	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These annual consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs which collective term 

includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and 

Interpretations issued by the HKICPA and the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance and include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for financial asset 

at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) which is stated at fair value.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 

are summarised in note 4. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise 

stated. The adoption of new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the consolidated financial statements, if any, 

are disclosed in note 2.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 

results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed, 

or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity, only 

substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from 

the date it gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group companies 

are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised losses on intra-group 

asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the Group’s 

perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary 

to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 

Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those 

interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those 

interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect 

to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s 

net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, 

separately from the equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results 

of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-

controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.1	 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 

and any non-controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment 

loss. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable 

at the reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are 

recognised in the Company’s profit or loss.

4.2	 Business combination

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 

transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the 

acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the 

former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 

acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity in the acquiree 

(if any) over the net of the acquisition–date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 

assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in 

the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess 

is recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase gain.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.3	 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the 

functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions are translated 

into the functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities 

are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated 

(i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial statements of foreign operations, originally 

presented in a currency different from the Group’s presentation currency, have been converted into HK$. 

Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and 

expenses have been converted into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at the average 

rates over the reporting period provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences 

arising from this procedure have been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately 

in the translation reserve in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation have been treated as 

assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated into HK$ at the closing rates.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.4	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-of-use assets as described in note 4.13) are stated 

at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated 

useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 1.5% to 5%

Leasehold improvements 4.5% to 50% or over the lease term, whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 5% to 33.3%

Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3%

Furniture and equipment 10% to 33.3%

Motor vehicles which meet the definition of right-of-use assets are classified as right-of-use assets. Accounting 

policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set out in note 4.13.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 

at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and 

the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 

other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in 

which they are incurred.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



72

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.5	 Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the 

acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration 

transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s 

previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the 

acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds 

the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the 

fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units 

(“CGU”) and is tested annually for impairment (see note 4.19).

4.6	 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets with 

finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses 

(see note 4.19).

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the assets’ estimated useful lives. Amortisation commences when the intangible assets are available 

for use. Car dealership is amortised from the date of acquisition over its estimated useful lives of 10 years.

The assets amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 

each reporting period. 

4.7	 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 

or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability 

is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at 

the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, 

in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at 

FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



73

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.7	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

–	 amortised cost;

–	 FVTPL; or

–	 FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

–	 the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; and

–	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has 

made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 

finance costs or other income, except for expected credit losses (“ECL”) allowance on trade and other 

receivables, which is presented as a separate item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 

designated as FVTPL):

–	 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 

contractual cash flows; and

–	 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest 

income from these financial assets is included in other income in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where 

the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged 

deposits and cash and bank balances fall into this category of financial instruments.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.7	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held for trading 

purposes and on initial recognition of the investment, the Group elects to designate the investment at FVOCI 

(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in “Fair value reserve – non-recycling” in equity. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-

instrument basis, but only be made if the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss 

in “Fair value reserve – non-recycling” will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the equity 

investments, and will be transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s 

right to receive the dividends is established. Dividends are included in the “Other income” in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, lease liabilities, accruals and other payables, 

borrowings and advance from a director.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, 

adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method except for derivatives which are not designated and effective as hedging instruments and 

financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses 

recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit 

or loss are included within finance costs or other income.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 4.13.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.7	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 

value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

Trade and bills payables, accruals and other payables and advance from a director

These are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest method.

4.8	 Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9’s new impairment requirements use forward-looking information to recognise ECL – the “ECL 

model”. Instruments within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised 

cost, trade receivables and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at FVTPL.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including 

past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected collectability 

of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

–	 financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition 

or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

–	 financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and 

whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the Stage 

2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected 

life of the financial instrument.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.8	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and recognises a loss 

allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash 

flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial assets. In calculating 

the ECL, the Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience and 

external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

To measure ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on share credit risk, characteristics and the days 

past due. For trade receivables, the Group allows 1.6% (2020: 1.4%) for amounts that are neither past due 

nor impaired, 33.4% (2020: 48.4%) for amounts that are 1 to 90 days past due, 60.4% (2020: 66.0%) for 

amounts that are between 91 and 180 days past due and 100% (2020: 100%) for amounts that are more 

than 180 days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or 

risk of default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 

the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring 

on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both 

quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience 

and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly:

–	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating;

–	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the 

credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

–	 existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business, financial, economic conditions, or 

technological environment that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to 

meet its debt obligations; and

–	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



77

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.8	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 

Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the end of 

each reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, 

the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse 

changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 

ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when (i) information 

developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 

creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group); or (ii) 

the financial asset is 90 days past due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and other financial assets measured at amortised 

cost are set out in note 37.

Financial guarantee contracts

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default 

by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the 

present value of the expected payments to the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that 

the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

4.9	 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories comprise fully-assembled 

motor vehicles and auto parts. Cost includes purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 

to their present location and condition using weighted-average method and specific basis as appropriate.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling 

expenses.

4.10	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand, demand deposits with banks and short term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.11	 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see note 4.16) before being unconditionally 

entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed 

for ECL and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has become unconditional 

(see note 4.7).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the related 

revenue (see note 4.16). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional 

right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding 

receivable would also be recognised (see note 4.7).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. 

For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a 

net basis.

4.12	 Financial guarantees issued

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer (or guarantor) to make specified payments 

to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in 

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred 

income within other payables. The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value 

of the difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required under the debt instruments and 

the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable 

to a third party for assessing the obligations. Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance 

of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that 

category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised 

in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

Subsequently, financial guarantees are measured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with 

ECL under HKFRS 9 as set out in note 4.7 and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the 

cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



79

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.13	 Leases

(a)	 Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease 

is defined as “a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified asset (the 

underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration”. To apply this definition, the 

Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

–	 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or 

implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group;

–	 the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 

identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope 

of the contract; and

–	 the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. 

The Group assesses whether it has the right to direct “how and for what purpose” the asset 

is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, 

the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the 

basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the 

consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made 

up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an 

estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and any 

lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement 

date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term 

unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group 

also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease 

payments unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 

cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.13	 Leases (Continued)

(a)	 Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments 

(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments based 

on an index or rate, and amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee. The lease 

payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised 

by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 

exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for lease payments made and increased 

for interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, 

or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend 

on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that 

triggers the payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or 

profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical 

expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to 

these leases are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 month or less. Low-value assets comprise small 

items of office equipment.

Cost of leasehold land held by a lessee have been included in “right-of-use assets”. The prepayments 

for lease of leasehold land in which the lease period not yet commenced during the reporting period 

are presented as “Prepaid expenses” under non-current assets.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.13	 Leases (Continued)

(b)	 The Group as a lessor

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 

to ownership of the underlying asset, and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative 

of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.

4.14	 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 

reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money is material, 

provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provision are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 

economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 

or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group are 

also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.15	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised at the amount of consideration of shares 

issued, after deducting any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of any related income 

tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction.

4.16	 Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sales of motor vehicles, servicing of motor vehicles and sales of auto parts, 

provision of car-related technical services and car rental services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process:

1.	 Identifying the contract with a customer.

2.	 Identifying the performance obligations.

3.	 Determining the transaction price.

4.	 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations.

5.	 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations 

based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts 

collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance 

obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

Sales of motor vehicles

Revenue from the sale of motor vehicles for a fixed fee is recognised when the Group transfers control of 

the assets to the customer. Invoices for goods are due upon receipt by the customer.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.16	 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of motor vehicles (Continued)

For stand-alone sales of motor vehicles that are neither customised by the Group nor subject to significant 

integration services, control transfers at the point in time the customer takes undisputed delivery of the goods.

The Group does not provide any sales-related warranties. There is no right of return by customers under the 

Group’s standard contract terms.

Servicing of motor vehicles and sales of auto parts

The Group offers servicing of motor vehicles, including maintenance, repairing and other support services. 

Revenue from servicing of motor vehicles is recognised when the relevant services have been provided and 

the Group received the payment or the right to receive payment has been established. For the contract which 

the Group grants a customer the option to acquire additional services, the Group assesses whether the option 

provides a material right to the customer. If the option provides a material right, the Group recognises the 

option as a performance obligation.

Technical fee income

The Group received technical fee income from Xiamen Zhong Bao Automobiles Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Zhong 

Bao”) for providing management consulting and technical assistance in relation to the People’s Republic of 

China (the “PRC”) locally assembled BMW motor vehicles sold by Xiamen Zhong Bao. Revenue is recognised 

when the relevant services have been provided.

Car rental income

Car rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 

of the relevant lease contract.

Commission income and consultant service income

Commission income and consultant service income are recognised as the relevant services have been rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

4.17	 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 

the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants are 

deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that the 

grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross under other income in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.18	 Vendor rebates

Volume-related vendor rebates are recognised as a deduction from cost of sales on an accrual basis according 

to the expected entitlement earned up to the reporting date for each relevant supplier contract.

Rebates relating to items purchased but still held at the reporting date are deducted from carrying value of 

these items so that the cost of inventories is recorded net of applicable rebates.

4.19	 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than contract assets)

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:

–	 Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary;

–	 Other intangible assets;

–	 Property, plant and equipment;

–	 Right-of-use assets;

–	 Prepaid expenses; and

–	 The Company’s interests in subsidiaries.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that 

they are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s 

carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 

amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market 

conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 

are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of 

time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.19	 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than contract assets) (Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent 

from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that 

generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually 

for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual 

cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise 

they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 

allocation basis can be identified. Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within 

the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not be larger than an 

operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are credited 

initially to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other 

assets in the cash generating unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its 

individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment 

loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable 

amount and only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent 

period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment 

been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

4.20	 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits plan (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory 

Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. 

Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC and Singapore are required to participate 

in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to 

contribute certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as employees render services during the year. The 

Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



86

4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.20	 Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for 

the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the 

time of leave.

4.21	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

4.22	 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 

relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated 

according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the 

taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of 

tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 

are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well 

as other unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable 

temporary differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 

and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from 

initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 

except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that 

the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply in the period the 

liability is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.22	 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in the profit or loss, or in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other comprehensive income 

or directly to equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

measured using the average tax rates that are expected to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which 

the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an estimation of (i) when the existing temporary differences 

will reverse and (ii) the amount of future taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit 

includes:

–	 income or loss excluding reversals of temporary differences; and

–	 reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, and only if,

(a)	 the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b)	 intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a)	 the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; 

and

(b)	 the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority on either:

(i)	 the same taxable entity; or

(ii)	 different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a 

net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period 

in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or 

recovered.

4.23	 Segment reporting

The Group identifies reportable segments and prepares segment information based on the regular internal 

financial information reported to the executive directors for their decisions about resources allocation to the 

Group’s business components and for their review of the performance of those components. The business 

components in the internal financial information reported to the executive directors are determined based 

on the Group’s major product and service lines.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.23	 Segment reporting (Continued)

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

–	 Motor vehicle sales and services business – primarily consists of the operations of (i) motor vehicle 

distribution and dealership business, which includes sales of motor vehicles and provision of after-

sales services; and (ii) other motor vehicle related business, which includes operations of motor vehicle 

service shops, sales of auto parts, provision of car-related technical services and other value-added 

motor vehicle services; and

–	 Car rental business

Each of these reportable segments is managed separately as each of the product and service line requires 

different resources as well as marketing approaches.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as 

those used in its consolidated financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except for the income tax and 

corporate income and expenses including certain finance costs which are not directly attributable to the 

business activities of any reportable segment and they are not included in arriving at the operating results 

of the reportable segment.

Segment assets exclude corporate assets that are not directly attributable to business activities of any reportable 

segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarters.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities 

of any reportable segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to reportable segments.
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4.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
4.24	 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or a parent of the Group.

(b)	 the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group.

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity.

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group 

or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experiences and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainties

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next year are discussed below:

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables and other financial assets within the scope of ECL upon application 

of HKFRS 9

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade receivables and other financial assets measured 

at amortised cost) based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in 

making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, 

existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as set out in note 

4.8. As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate carrying amounts of trade receivables and other financial assets measured 

at amortised cost amounted to HK$118,702,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$5,306,000) and HK$1,015,335,000 

(net of ECL allowance of HK$10,706,000) (2020: HK$165,864,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$5,572,000) and 

HK$802,568,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$6,580,000)) respectively.

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected, such difference will impact the carrying amount of 

trade receivables and other financial assets within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in the periods 

in which such estimate has been changed.

Determination of the discount rate for calculating lease liabilities

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to exercise considerable judgment in relation to determining 

the discount rate taking into account the nature of the underlying assets and the terms and conditions of the leases, 

at both the commencement date and effective date of the modification.
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)
Estimation uncertainties (Continued)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible asset and 

right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, intangible asset and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives are depreciated or 

amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the estimated 

residual value, if any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to determine 

the amount of depreciation and amortisation expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful lives 

are based on the Group’s historical experience with similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological 

changes. The depreciation and amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes 

from previous estimates.

Property, plant and equipment, intangible asset and right-of-use assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

The recoverable amounts of the assets have been determined based on the higher of fair value less costs of disposal 

and value-in-use calculations. Such estimation was based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and 

might materially differ from the actual results. No impairment is required for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 

2020. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, intangible asset and right-

of-use assets were HK$209,647,000, HK$12,230,000 and HK$225,899,000 respectively (2020: HK$211,941,000, 

HK$14,256,000 and HK$241,815,000 respectively).

Provision for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the condition and an ageing analysis of inventories at the end of the reporting 

period and makes allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for 

use in providing repairing and maintenance service or sale. The management estimates the net realisable value for 

motor vehicles, auto parts and accessories based primarily on the latest selling and purchase prices and on current 

market conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on an item-by-item basis at the end of the reporting 

period and makes allowance for slow-moving inventories. If the market condition was to deteriorate, resulting in 

a lower net realisable value for such inventories, additional allowances may be required. As at 31 December 2021, 

the carrying amount of inventories was HK$166,979,000 (2020: HK$145,802,000).

Estimated rebate receivables

The Group receives incentive rebates from suppliers from time to time depending on the policies of the manufacturers. 

The amount of incentive rebates given by a manufacturer for a given period is generally determined with reference 

to the Group’s purchase volume, sales volume, customer satisfaction and other performance indicators set by the 

manufacturer with respect to that period. The Group accrues incentive rebates based on management’s best estimates 

and judgments as of the relevant reporting date while the actual amount of the incentive rebates is determined by the 

manufacturers after the end of the reporting period. These estimates and judgments involve, among other factors, 

the estimated results of assessment by the manufacturers for the Group’s performance in various aspects during the 

reporting period. When the actual rebates received by the Group differ from the estimated amount, adjustment will 

be made and recognised in the period in which such event takes place. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount 

of rebate receivables was HK$69,496,000 (2020: HK$64,963,000).
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5.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Estimation uncertainties (Continued)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong, the PRC and Singapore. Significant judgment is required in 

determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated 

tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 

different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 

tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill 

has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected 

to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. In process of estimating 

expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions about future revenue and results. These assumptions relate 

to future events and circumstances. Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the appropriate 

adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors. The actual results may vary and may cause a material 

adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial year. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying 

amount of goodwill was HK$6,902,000 (2020: HK$6,705,000).

Fair value of financial assets at FVOCI

The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 

techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and determine the fair values primarily based 

on the purchase price paid by the Group, net asset value and taking into account of the analysis of the investees’ 

financial trends and results, risk profile, prospects, industry trends and other factors. Independent external valuer has 

been involved in determining fair value of certain unlisted investments. The key assumptions adopted on projected 

cash flow are based on management’s best estimates. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of FVOCI was 

HK$13,418,000 (2020: HK$11,056,000).

6.	 REVENUE
The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Sales of motor vehicles 1,891,045 1,619,354

Servicing of motor vehicles and sales of auto parts 659,705 604,571

Technical fee income 10,222 8,962

Car rental income 27,996 31,419
   

Revenue from contracts with customers 2,588,968 2,264,306
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6.	 REVENUE (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point in time in the following 

major types of goods and services provided and geographical market:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Types of goods and services

Sales of motor vehicles 1,891,045 1,619,354

Servicing of motor vehicles and sales of auto parts 659,705 604,571

Technical service 10,222 8,962

Car rental income 27,996 31,419
   

Total 2,588,968 2,264,306
   

Timing of revenue recognition

At a point in time 2,560,972 2,232,887

Over-time 27,996 31,419
   

Total 2,588,968 2,264,306
   

Geographical markets

PRC 2,560,972 2,232,887

Hong Kong 27,996 31,419
   

Total 2,588,968 2,264,306
   

Type of customers

Corporate 461,822 426,012

Individuals 2,127,146 1,838,294
   

Total 2,588,968 2,264,306
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers, have identified two reportable 

segments as further described in note 4.23.

These reportable segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating 

results.

(a)	 Segment revenue, segment results and other segment information

2021
 

Motor vehicle sales 

and services business Car rental business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Reportable segment revenue 2,560,972 27,996 2,588,968
    

Reportable segment profit 92,680 3,681 96,361
    

Other information

Depreciation and amortisation of non-

current assets (42,874) (15,145) (58,019)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 3,849 1,486 5,335

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets – 1,841 1,841

Reversal of ECL allowance on trade 

receivables 266 – 266

ECL allowance on other receivables (4,126) – (4,126)

Additions to non-current assets (other 

than financial instruments) during the 

year 61,831 6,130 67,961
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(a)	 Segment revenue, segment results and other segment information (Continued)

2020
 

Motor vehicle sales 

and services business Car rental business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Reportable segment revenue 2,232,887 31,419 2,264,306
    

Reportable segment profit 86,721 5,982 92,703
    

Other information

Depreciation and amortisation of non-

current assets (40,171) (16,737) (56,908)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 3,234 1,742 4,976

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 97 320 417

Gain on termination of leases 612 – 612

ECL allowance on trade receivables (1,787) – (1,787)

ECL allowance on other receivables (6,580) – (6,580)

Additions to non-current assets (other 

than financial instruments) during the 

year 49,197 6,543 55,740
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(b)	 Segment assets and liabilities

2021
 

Motor vehicle sales 

and services business Car rental business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Reportable segment assets 1,671,027 35,056 1,706,083
    

Reportable segment liabilities 1,055,584 9,437 1,065,021
    

2020
 

Motor vehicle sales 

and services business Car rental business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Reportable segment assets 1,532,600 45,799 1,578,399
    

Reportable segment liabilities 934,038 13,702 947,740
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(c)	 Reconciliation of segment information to the Group’s key financial figures as presented in the 

consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Reportable segment revenue 2,588,968 2,264,306
   

Reportable segment profit 96,361 92,703

Unallocated corporate income 9,814 3,320

Unallocated corporate expenses

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets (3,043) (2,717)

Employee benefit expenses (5,933) (6,096)

Others (5,301) (4,927)

Unallocated finance costs (1,565) (2,730)
   

Profit before income tax 90,333 79,553
   

Reportable segment assets 1,706,083 1,578,399

Non-current corporate assets (note (i)) 15,388 11,348

Current corporate assets (note (ii)) 241,456 177,068
   

Consolidated total assets 1,962,927 1,766,815
   

Reportable segment liabilities 1,065,021 947,740

Non-current corporate liabilities (note (iii)) 16,706 16,549

Current corporate liabilities (note (iv)) 65,388 77,894
   

Consolidated total liabilities 1,147,115 1,042,183
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7.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(c)	 Reconciliation of segment information to the Group’s key financial figures as presented in the 

consolidated financial statements (Continued):

Notes:

(i)	 Non-current corporate assets mainly include certain property, plant and equipment, certain right-of-use assets, and 

financial asset at FVOCI that are not directly attributable to the business activities of the reportable segments.

(ii)	 Current corporate assets mainly include certain prepayments, deposits and other receivables, tax recoverable, cash 

and bank balances and pledged deposits that are not directly attributable to the business activities of the reportable 

segments or that are managed on group basis.

(iii)	 Non-current corporate liabilities include deferred tax liabilities and certain lease liabilities that are not directly 

attributable to the business activities of the reportable segments.

(iv)	 Current corporate liabilities include certain accruals and other payables, certain borrowings, certain lease liabilities, 

advance from a director, and tax payables that are not directly attributable to the business activities of the reportable 

segments or that are managed on group basis.

(d)	 Geographical segments

The Group’s revenue from external customers and non-current assets (other than financial instruments) are 

divided into the following geographical areas:

Revenue from  

external customers

Non-current assets  

(other than financial instruments)

2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Singapore – – 1,336 1,629

PRC 2,560,972 2,232,887 450,699 445,232

Hong Kong 27,996 31,419 32,546 40,897
     

2,588,968 2,264,306 484,581 487,758
     

The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the services were provided or the 

goods were delivered. The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on the physical location 

of the assets or the location of operations.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no revenue from a single customer accounted for 10% or 

more of the Group’s revenue.
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8.	 OTHER INCOME
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Bank interest income 1,589 1,315

Commission income 4,118 10,222

Consultant service income 30,055 18,640

Financial guarantee income 1,865 224

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,335 4,976

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 1,841 417

Gain on termination of leases – 612

Government grants 1,194 4,495

Sundry income 4,739 4,422
   

50,736 45,323
   

9.	 OTHER EXPENSES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Advertising and promotion expenses 8,083 2,986

Auditor’s remuneration 1,485 1,044

Bank charges 2,713 4,460

Entertainment expenses 4,868 3,825

Financial guarantee expenses 3,868 –

Insurance expenses 1,904 1,924

IT service fees 3,389 2,396

Legal and professional fees 3,658 3,831

Miscellaneous expenses 5,521 3,510

Motor vehicles expenses 8,582 7,655

Office expenses 9,208 6,568

Repairs and maintenance expenses 3,491 1,520

Taxes and levies* 11,019 14,187

Transportation and travelling expenses 3,214 1,872

Utilities 4,393 3,595

Written-off of property, plant and equipment 6,617 –
   

82,013 59,373
   

*	 Taxes and levies mainly represents the indirect taxes arising from sales and other operating activity of the Group.
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10.	 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
Profit before income tax is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

10.1	 Cost of inventories

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Changes in inventories

Motor vehicles (21,285) 39,373

Auto parts and accessories 108 12,040
   

(21,177) 51,413
   

Auto parts and accessories, and motor vehicles purchased

Motor vehicles 1,881,089 1,644,408

Auto parts and accessories 367,901 262,774
   

2,248,990 1,907,182
   

2,227,813 1,958,595
   

10.2	 Finance costs

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Interest charges on bank and other borrowings 26,585 27,252

Finance charges on lease liabilities 8,080 7,256
   

34,665 34,508
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10.	 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)
10.3	 Other items

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Auditor’s remuneration 1,485 1,044

Lease charges:

Short term leases and lease term shorter than 12 months 6,037 4,785

Leases of low value items 38 10
   

Total lease charges 6,075 4,795
   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Owned assets 30,103 29,706

Right-of-use assets 28,547 27,667
   

Total depreciation 58,650 57,373
   

Gain on termination of leases – (612)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5,335) (4,976)

Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (1,841) (417)

Amortisation of an intangible asset (note 15) 2,412 2,252

Written-off of property, plant and equipment 6,617 –

Financial guarantee expenses 3,868 –

(Reversal of)/ECL allowance on trade receivables (266) 1,787

ECL allowance on other receivables 4,126 6,580
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11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 is calculated at 16.5% (2020: 

16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group 

has available tax losses brought forward from prior years to offset the assessable profits generated during the year. 

For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, one subsidiary of the Group is a qualifying corporation under the 

two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits 

of qualifying entities are taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the assessable profits for both periods are wholly absorbed by 

unrelieved tax losses bought forward from previous years.

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the rate of tax 

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

The income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is calculated at the applicable rates on the estimated 

assessable profits for the year based on the unification of the income tax rates for domestic-invested and foreign-

invested enterprises at 25% (2020: 25%).

Dividend distribution out of the retained profits of foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC earned after 1 January 

2008 is subject to withholding income tax at a tax rate of 10% (2020: 10%) unless reduced by treaty. Under the 

tax treaty between Singapore and the Mainland China, the withholding income tax rate applicable to the Group is 

5% (2020: 5%).

Income tax in respect of operations in Singapore has not been provided for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 

2020 as the Company’s Singapore subsidiary has no assessable profits for the years.

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Current tax – Overseas

Charge for the year 26,505 27,689
   

Current tax – total 26,505 27,689

Deferred tax (note 30) (1,605) (947)
   

Total income tax expense 24,900 26,742
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11.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Profit before income tax 90,333 79,553
   

Tax on profit before income tax, calculated at the rates applicable to 

profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned 25,745 20,944

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,226 5,732

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (768) (1,700)

Tax effect of withholding income tax on undistributed profit of 

subsidiaries in the PRC – 258

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 644 1,665

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (2,066) (331)

Others 119 174
   

Income tax expense 24,900 26,742
   

12.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on profit attributable to the owners of the Company for the 

year of approximately HK$65,433,000 (2020: HK$52,811,000) and on the weighted average number of 476,300,000 

(2020: 476,300,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are the same as the basic earnings per 

share as there was no dilutive potential ordinary share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

13.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Salaries and wages 115,575 95,611

Other benefits 5,720 4,163

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 11,070 5,935
   

132,365 105,709
   

Note:

At 31 December 2021, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in 

future years (2020: nil).
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13.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) 
(Continued)
13.1	 Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits 

of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Fees

Salaries 

and other 

benefits

Discretionary 

bonus

Contribution 

to defined 

contribution 

plan Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)
      

2021

Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wan Ju (Resigned on  

18 February 2022) – 556 – 31 587

Mr. Choy Choong Yew# – 1,647 – – 1,647

Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis – 2,037 499 18 2,554

Mr. Zhang Xi – 351 – – 351

Mr. Xue Guo Qiang – 230 – – 230

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lin Ju Zheng 216 – – – 216

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Ming 204 – – – 204

Ms. Guan Xin 144 – – – 144

Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng 314 – – – 314
      

878 4,821 499 49 6,247
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13.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) 
(Continued)
13.1	 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Fees

Salaries and 

other benefits

Discretionary 

bonus

Contribution 

to defined 

contribution 

plan Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)
      

2020

Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Wan Ju (Resigned on 18 February 2022) – 541 – 30 571

Mr. Choy Choong Yew# – 1,456 – – 1,456

Mr. Ma Hang Kon, Louis – 1,997 320 18 2,335

Mr. Zhang Xi – 351 – – 351

Mr. Xue Guo Qiang – 214 – – 214

Non-Executive Director

Mr. Lin Ju Zheng 200 – – – 200

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Ming 204 – – – 204

Ms. Guan Xin 134 – – – 134

Mr. Yuen Kin Pheng 304 – – – 304
      

842 4,559 320 48 5,769
      

#	 As a managing director taking Chief Executive Officer’s role

Note:

Discretionary bonus for the year was determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance and 

duties of directors.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. No incentive 

payment for joining the Group or compensation for loss of office was paid or payable to any director for the year.
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13.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) 
(Continued)
13.2	 Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included two (2020: two) 

directors whose emoluments are included in the analysis presented above. The emoluments payable to the 

remaining three (2020: three) individuals during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Salaries and other benefits 3,809 2,924

Contributions to defined contribution plan 107 105
   

3,916 3,029
   

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2021 2020
   

Emolument bands

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
   

13.3	 Key management personnel compensation

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Short term employee benefits 9,287 8,645

Post-employment benefits 156 153
   

9,443 8,798
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Plant and 

machinery
Motor 

Vehicles
Furniture and 

equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 1 January 2020
Cost 148,355 57,146 37,847 77,578 28,008 348,934
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (27,412) (22,311) (28,085) (38,477) (22,725) (139,010)

       

Net carrying amount 120,943 34,835 9,762 39,101 5,283 209,924
       

Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net carrying amount 120,943 34,835 9,762 39,101 5,283 209,924
Exchange differences 7,301 1,047 500 1,257 212 10,317
Additions 569 10,376 962 21,470 1,201 34,578
Disposals – – – (13,167) (5) (13,172)
Depreciation (8,247) (3,955) (2,353) (13,012) (2,139) (29,706)

       

Closing net carrying amount 120,566 42,303 8,871 35,649 4,552 211,941
       

At 31 December 2020
Cost 156,225 68,569 39,309 77,780 40,987 382,870
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (35,659) (26,266) (30,438) (42,131) (36,435) (170,929)

       

Net carrying amount 120,566 42,303 8,871 35,649 4,552 211,941
       

Year ended 31 December 2021
Opening net carrying amount 120,566 42,303 8,871 35,649 4,552 211,941
Exchange differences 3,487 1,181 232 665 130 5,695
Additions – 646 4,309 36,108 2,014 43,077
Disposals (143) – – (14,183) (20) (14,346)
Written off (6,421) – (34) – (162) (6,617)
Depreciation (8,186) (4,622) (2,101) (13,391) (1,803) (30,103)

       

Closing net carrying amount 109,303 39,508 11,277 44,848 4,711 209,647
       

At 31 December 2021
Cost 159,712 70,396 43,850 83,283 42,789 400,030
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (50,409) (30,888) (32,573) (38,435) (38,078) (190,383)

       

Net carrying amount 109,303 39,508 11,277 44,848 4,711 209,647
       

As at 31 December 2021, certain motor vehicles and plant and machinery with net carrying amount of approximately 

HK$10,778,000 (2020: HK$3,744,000) was pledged as collateral for the other borrowings of the Group (note 28.1).

As at 31 December 2021, building with net carrying amount of approximately HK$25,097,000 (2020: HK$26,669,000) 

was pledged as collateral for the bank borrowings of the Group (note 28.1).
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15.	 INTANGIBLE ASSET

Car dealership
HK$’000

  

At 1 January 2020
Cost 22,320
Accumulated amortisation (6,696)

  

Net carrying amount 15,624
  

Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net carrying amount 15,624
Amortisation (note 10.3) (2,252)
Exchange differences 884

  

Closing net carrying amount 14,256
  

At 31 December 2020
Cost 23,760
Accumulated amortisation (9,504)

  

Net carrying amount 14,256
  

Year ended 31 December 2021
Opening net carrying amount 14,256
Amortisation (note 10.3) (2,412)
Exchange differences 386

  

Closing net carrying amount 12,230
  

At 31 December 2021
Cost 24,460
Accumulated amortisation (12,230)

  

Net carrying amount 12,230
  

The Group’s identifiable intangible asset represents car dealership in the PRC, arising from the relationship with the 

automobile manufacturer, with an estimated useful lives of 10 years.

16.	 PREPAID EXPENSES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Opening net carrying amount at 1 January 13,041 12,853
Exchange differences (197) 188

   

Closing net carrying amount at 31 December 12,844 13,041
   

As 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had entered into an agreement for the lease term of 10 years up to 

2023. In addition, the Group had committed to a lease for using certain motor vehicle showroom, service centres 

and related facilities located at Beijing in which the lease had not yet commenced.
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17.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Properties

Leasehold 

land

Prepaid 

rental 

expenses

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

At 1 January 2020

Cost 140,861 80,699 1,688 57,687 280,935

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment (12,356) (2,786) (459) (16,393) (31,994)
      

Net carrying amount 128,505 77,913 1,229 41,294 248,941
      

Year ended 31 December 2020

Opening net book amount 128,505 77,913 1,229 41,294 248,941

Exchange differences 7,762 4,856 671 491 13,780

Additions – – – 5,387 5,387

Depreciation (11,896) (2,727) (467) (12,577) (27,667)

Disposal – – – (697) (697)

Modification of lease 2,213 – – (142) 2,071
      

Closing net carrying amount 126,584 80,042 1,433 33,756 241,815
      

At 31 December 2020

Cost 148,124 85,555 2,359 60,921 296,959

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment (21,540) (5,513) (926) (27,165) (55,144)
      

Net carrying amount 126,584 80,042 1,433 33,756 241,815
      

Year ended 31 December 2021

Opening net book amount 126,584 80,042 1,433 33,756 241,815

Exchange differences 3,522 2,298 595 195 6,610

Additions 2,514 – – 4,849 7,363

Depreciation (12,298) (2,904) (481) (12,864) (28,547)

Disposal – – – (1,804) (1,804)

Modification of lease 462 – – – 462
      

Closing net carrying amount 120,784 79,436 1,547 24,132 225,899
      

At 31 December 2021

Cost 154,622 87,853 2,954 58,663 304,092

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment (33,838) (8,417) (1,407) (34,531) (78,193)
      

Net carrying amount 120,784 79,436 1,547 24,132 225,899
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17.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
As at 31 December 2021, certain motor vehicles with net carrying amount of approximately HK$9,019,000 (2020: 

HK$16,171,000) was pledged as collateral for the lease liabilities of the Group. Details of the lease contracts are 

set out in note 25.

As at 31 December 2021, leasehold land with net carrying amounts of approximately HK$76,690,000 (2020: 

HK$77,311,000) and HK$2,746,000 (2020: HK$2,731,000) were pledged as collateral for the bank borrowings of 

the Group (note 28.1) and Xiamen Zhong Bao, respectively.

18.	 GOODWILL
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Opening net carrying amount 6,705 6,298

Exchange adjustment 197 407
   

Closing net carrying amount 6,902 6,705
   

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the respective CGU 

to which goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on the value in use 

calculation which requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to be arised from the CGU and 

a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

The recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated, being the car dealership business conducted by 

a subsidiary, Quanzhou Fubao Automobiles Sales and Service Co., Ltd. (“QZ Fubao”), which was acquired in 2016. 

The recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill have been determined based on cash flow projections 

from formally approved budgets covering a three-year (2020: three-year) period. Cash flow beyond the three-year 

(2020: three-year) period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 2.1%), which does not exceed the 

long-term growth rate for the automobile industry in the PRC. Discount rate is 17.4% (2020: 12.1%) which is 

pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU. Gross profit margin is 7.9% (2020: 7.4%) which has 

been determined with reference to actual performance during the period and the expected market development. The 

directors believe that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is 

based would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.
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19.	 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVOCI

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Financial assets at FVOCI (non-recycling)

Unlisted equity investment 13,418 11,056
   

The Group designated its investment in the unlisted equity investment as financial assets measured at FVOCI (non-

recycling), as this investment is held for the strategic purpose.

The fair value of the Group’s investment in unlisted equity security has been measured as described in note 37.

20.	 INVENTORIES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Motor vehicles 139,326 118,041

Auto parts and accessories 27,653 27,761
   

166,979 145,802
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21.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on invoice date, is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0 – 90 days 90,264 147,719

91 – 180 days 16,753 21,406

181 – 365 days 14,827 966

Over 1 year 2,164 1,345
   

124,008 171,436

Less: ECL allowance (5,306) (5,572)
   

118,702 165,864
   

In addition to the advances to Zhong Bao Group as disclosed in note 22, the Group’s trade receivables included 

trade debts of HK$101,309,000 due from Zhong Bao Group as at 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$137,571,000).

The Group requires individual customers to pay cash for any service rendered and goods sold while it generally 

allows a credit period of 3 to 9 months to its major customers with long business relationship.

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,572 3,809

ECL allowance recognised during the year – 1,787

Reversal of ECL allowance recognised (266) –

Written-off during the year – (24)
   

Balance at the end of the year 5,306 5,572
   

Details of the credit risk and provision of ECL allowance are set out in note 37.

Except for the collateral as stated in note 22, none of the Group’s trade receivables are secured by collateral or 

other credit enhancements.
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22.	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Advances to Zhong Bao Group (note) 724,552 559,036

Rebate receivables 69,496 64,963

Other receivables, prepayments and deposits paid

–	 Prepayments for acquisition of inventories 128,781 142,532

–	 Others 28,664 20,018
   

951,493 786,549

Less: ECL allowance (10,706) (6,580)
   

940,787 779,969
   

Note:

The Group has maintained long term business relationship with Xiamen Zhong Bao and its related companies (collectively, “Zhong 

Bao Group”). Pursuant to the technical and management service agreements entered into between the Group and Zhong Bao Group, 

the Group would provide technical expertise, management service and financial assistance to Zhong Bao Group including making 

advances for the operations of the distribution of locally manufactured BMW motor vehicles in the PRC by Zhong Bao Group. The 

technical fee charged by the Group is based on agreed terms with reference to the monthly actual sales quantity of specified car 

model of Zhong Bao Group.

Other than as stated above, the Group sells motor vehicles, auto parts and provides motor vehicles services to the customers of Zhong 

Bao Group. Total receivables arising from the above transactions including advances made to Zhong Bao Group and trade receivables 

from Zhong Bao Group outstanding as at 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$825,861,000 (2020: HK$696,607,000) after netting off 

the trade and other payables balances due by the Group to Zhong Bao Group. The amount is interest-free and repayable on demand.

On 14 January 2022, the Group entered into an agreement (“Agreement”) with Zhong Bao Group, pursuant to which Zhong Bao 

Group agreed to pledge their motor vehicles inventories to the Group together with a personal guarantee provided by Zhong Bao’s 

shareholder until full settlement of all the outstanding amount due by Zhong Bao Group. As at 31 December 2021, the market 

value of the pledged assets amounted to approximately HK$555,589,000 (2020: HK$413,308,000) which provide safeguard for the 

balances due by Zhong Bao Group. The directors of the Company consider that the market value of the pledged assets and personal 

guarantee provided by Zhong Bao’s shareholder under the Agreement provide safeguard for the advances to the Zhong Bao Group. 

The collateral remains effective as long as there are outstanding balances due by Zhong Bao Group.
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22.	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

The Group assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables due from Zhong Bao Group based on provision matrix, the expected 

loss rates are based on the payment profile for sales in the past 3 years (2020: 3 years) as well as the corresponding historical credit 

losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting 

the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. At each reporting date, the historical default rates are updated and changes 

in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. In applying the forward-looking information, the Group has taken into account the 

possible impacts associated with the overall change in the economic environment arising from COVID-19. During the year ended 31 

December 2021, reversal of ECL allowance on trade receivables of HK$266,000 was provided (2020: ECL allowance of HK$1,763,000).

In view of the satisfactory settlement record in the past and the collateral in place as mentioned above, the directors are of the opinion 

that the credit risk of advances due from Zhong Bao Group are low. During the year ended 31 December 2021, ECL allowance on 

other receivables of HK$4,126,000 was provided (2020: HK$6,580,000).

The movement of gross balance of other receivables is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Balance at 1 January 2020 491,199 – – 491,199

Net changes on the gross amount 143,243 – – 143,243
     

Balance at 31 December 2020 and 1 

January 2021 634,442 – – 634,442

Net changes on the gross amount 153,729 – – 153,729
     

Balance at 31 December 2021 788,171 – – 788,171
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22.	 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Balance at 1 January 2020 – – – –

ECL allowance recognised during the year (6,580) – – (6,580)
     

Balance at 31 December 2020 and 1 

January 2021 (6,580) – – (6,580)

ECL allowance recognised during the year (4,126) – – (4,126)
     

Balance at 31 December 2021 (10,706) – – (10,706)
     

23.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Cash and bank balances 102,804 40,405
   

Pledged deposits:

Guarantee money in respect of security of suppliers 12,524 15,991

For bills facilities granted to the Group 66,964 61,304

For borrowings facilities granted to the Group (note 28.1) 55,578 57,006
   

135,066 134,301
   

237,870 174,706
   

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Pledged deposits are made for various 

periods of six months to one year (2020: six months to one year).

At the reporting date, the cash and bank balances and pledged deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi 

(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$232,700,000 (2020: HK$172,485,000). RMB is not freely convertible into 

other currencies, however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 

Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies 

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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24.	 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Trade payables 53,452 57,774

Bills payables 170,083 137,826
   

223,535 195,600
   

The credit period of the Group is usually 3 to 6 months. The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based on 

invoice date and issuance date of bill, is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

0 – 30 days 51,518 45,792

31 – 180 days 141,561 136,213

181 – 365 days 25,533 5,981

1 – 2 years 2,369 1,899

Over 2 years 2,554 5,715
   

223,535 195,600
   

The carrying amounts of trade and bills payables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were considered to be a reasonable 

approximation of their fair values.
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25.	 LEASE LIABILITIES
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Total minimum lease payments:

Due within 1 year 20,473 22,312

Due within 2 to 5 years 62,935 60,074

Due more than 5 years 113,202 124,389
   

196,610 206,775

Less: future lease liabilities finance charges (52,473) (58,574)
   

Present value of lease liabilities 144,137 148,201
   

Present value of minimum lease payments:

Due within 1 year 12,782 14,418

Due within 2 to 5 years 37,843 33,874

Due more than 5 years 93,512 99,909
   

144,137 148,201

Less: payment due within 1 year (presented under current liabilities) (12,782) (14,418)
   

Payment due after 1 year 131,355 133,783
   

As at 31 December 2021, lease liabilities amounting to HK$6,248,000 (2020: HK$7,380,000) are effectively secured 

by the related underlying assets (note 17) as the rights to the leased asset would be reverted to the lessor in the event 

of default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total cash outflow for the leases are HK$28,821,000 (2020: 

HK$38,436,000).
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25.	 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)
Details of the lease activities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has entered into leases for the items listed as follows:

Types of  

right-of-use assets Number of leases

Range of remaining  

lease term Particulars
    

Properties 9 leases

(2020: 9 leases)

0.3-13 years (2020: 1-14 

years)

Subject to monthly fixed 

rental payment

Leasehold land 7 leases

(2020: 7 leases)

2-42 years (2020: 3-43 

years)

All lease payments were 

prepaid upon obtained 

the leasehold land 

certificate

Motor vehicles 94 leases

(2020: 98 leases)

1-4 years (2020: 1-4 years) Subject to monthly fixed 

payment

The Group considered that no extension option or termination option would be exercised at the lease commencement 

date.

26.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Contract liabilities arising from deposits received from sales of motor 

vehicles 88,315 74,452

Contract liabilities arising from deposits received from servicing of 

motor vehicles and sales of auto parts* 29,517 26,061
   

117,832 100,513
   

*	 Increase in balance is mainly attributable to the increase in deposits received from customers in relation to sale of provision 

of servicing of motor vehicle at the end of the year.
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26.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)
The contract liabilities represented part of the transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are 

unsatisfied as of the end of the reporting period. The Group expects the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied 

performance obligations will be recognised as revenue when the Group transfers good or service to the customers. 

For all contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less or are billed based on time incurred, as a 

practical expedient as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is 

not disclosed.

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the year 

that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the 

year 99,875 66,298
   

27.	 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Accruals 13,007 17,939

Deposit received 6,202 –

Financial guarantee liabilities 9,327 498

Other payables 27,403 28,562

Pension and other employee obligations 893 823
   

56,832 47,822
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28.	 BORROWINGS

Secured Unsecured

Total secured 

and unsecured Guaranteed Unguaranteed

Total 

guaranteed and 

unguaranteed

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

2021

Non-current

Other borrowings 4,815 – 4,815 4,815 – 4,815
       

Current

Bank borrowings 302,114 92,337 394,451 343,240 51,211 394,451

Other borrowings 174,702 – 174,702 174,702 – 174,702
       

476,816 92,337 569,153 517,942 51,211 569,153
       

Total 481,631 92,337 573,968 522,757 51,211 573,968
       

Secured Unsecured

Total secured 

and unsecured Guaranteed Unguaranteed

Total 

guaranteed and 

unguaranteed

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

2020

Non-current

Other borrowings 4,489 – 4,489 4,489 – 4,489
       

Current

Bank borrowings 284,082 86,328 370,410 311,833 58,577 370,410

Other borrowings 138,126 2,135 140,261 138,126 2,135 140,261
       

422,208 88,463 510,671 449,959 60,712 510,671
       

Total 426,697 88,463 515,160 454,448 60,712 515,160
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28.	 BORROWINGS (Continued)
28.1	 Bank and other borrowings

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Analysed into:

Bank and other borrowings

Within one year 569,153 510,671

In the second year 4,815 4,489
   

573,968 515,160
   

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured/guaranteed by:

(i)	 the Group’s bank deposits amounting to HK$55,578,000 (2020: HK$57,006,000) (note 23);

(ii)	 certain of the Group’s right-of-use assets with net carrying amount of approximately HK$76,690,000 

(2020: HK$77,311,000) (note 17);

(iii)	 certain of the Group’s buildings with net carrying amount of approximately HK$25,097,000 (2020: 

HK$26,669,000) (note 14);

(iv)	 certain assets of Zhong Bao Group;

(v)	 properties owned by a related company of a substantial shareholder of the Company;

(vi)	 certain motor vehicles and plant and machinery with net carrying amount of approximately 

HK$10,778,000 (2020: HK$3,744,000) was pledged as collateral for the other borrowings of the 

Group (note 14);

(vii)	 guarantee provided by certain group companies of Zhong Bao Group;

(viii)	 personal guarantee provided by Loh Nee Peng, a substantial shareholder of the Company (note 35(c)); 

and

(ix)	 personal guarantee provided by Zhong Bao’s Shareholder for the year ended 31 December 2021.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no bank and other borrowings containing a repayment on demand clause 

with repayment dates over 1 year.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



122

28.	 BORROWINGS (Continued)
28.2	 Other information about the borrowings

Effective interest rate (%) per annum

Original  

currency

2021 2020

Fixed Floating Fixed Floating
      

Bank borrowings RMB 4.35%-6.80% – 4.35%-6.96% –

Bank borrowings USD – 2.50%-3.25% – 2.70%-4.56%

Other borrowings RMB 4.00%-8.50% – 3.95%-8.50% –
      

29.	 ADVANCE FROM A DIRECTOR
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the advance from a director is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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30.	 DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax balances recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior 

years:

Deferred tax liabilities

The movement on the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Fair value 

adjustments 

on business 

combination

Accelerated tax 

depreciation

Withholding tax 

on undistributed 

profits of PRC 

subsidiaries Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

At 1 January 2020 9,474 6,133 1,227 16,834

Credit to profit or loss (note 11) (779) (426) 258 (947)

Exchange difference 569 – 93 662
     

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 

2021 9,264 5,707 1,578 16,549

Credit to profit or loss (note 11) (834) (771) – (1,605)

Exchange difference 261 – 46 307
     

At 31 December 2021 8,691 4,936 1,624 15,251
     

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$19,713,000 (2020: HK$18,596,000) have not been established for the withholding tax 

that would be payable on the certain of the unremitted earnings the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC. In 

the opinion of the directors, the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it is not probable 

that the temporary difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future. Such unremitted earnings for interests in 

subsidiaries totalled HK$394,251,000 (2020: HK$371,921,000).

At 31 December 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK$148,976,000 (2020: HK$141,521,000) 

available to offset against future profits of which approximately HK$89,854,000 (2020: HK$87,802,000) will expire 

at various dates up to 2026 (2020: 2025). No deferred tax assets had been recognised in respect of such tax losses 

due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
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31.	 SHARE CAPITAL

2021 2020

Number of shares Number of shares

’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
     

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of 

HK$0.1 each 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 200,000
     

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of 

HK$0.1 each at 

beginning and end of 

year 476,300 47,630 476,300 47,630
     

32.	 RESERVES
(a)	 The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b)	 The amounts of the Company’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 

presented as follows:

Company
 

Share premium Capital reserve Accumulated losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

At 1 January 2020 29,522 2,854 (57,210) (24,834)

Loss for the year – – (10,502) (10,502)

Forfeiture of unclaimed 

dividends – – 35 35
     

At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 29,522 2,854 (67,677) (35,301)

Loss for the year – – (7,577) (7,577)
     

At 31 December 2021 29,522 2,854 (75,254) (42,878)
     

Share premium

The share premium account of the Group and the Company represents the premium arising from the issue of shares, 

net of placing expenses.

In accordance with the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium is distributable to the 

shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be 

distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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32.	 RESERVES (Continued)
Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the then combined net asset value of the 

subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation over the nominal value of the shares of the Company 

issued in exchange therefore.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of the 

subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation over the nominal value of the shares of the Company 

issued in exchange therefore.

Statutory reserve

According to the relevant PRC laws, the subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit after tax, 

as determined under the PRC accounting regulation, to a statutory reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% 

of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The transfer of this reserve must be made before the distribution of dividend 

to the subsidiaries’ equity owners. The statutory reserve is non-distributable other than upon the liquidation of the 

subsidiaries.

Other reserve

The other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the acquisition of the additional interests 

from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group and the amount of non-controlling interests acquired.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy for foreign 

currencies as stated in note 4.3.

33.	 TRANSACTIONS WITH ZHONG BAO GROUP
Save for those disclosed as set out in notes 17, 21, 22, 28, and 36, the Group generated income from sales of motor 

vehicles, car servicing and sale of auto parts of HK$142,916,000 (2020: HK$155,914,000) and earned technical fee 

income of HK$10,222,000 (2020: HK$8,962,000) from Zhong Bao Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group purchased motor vehicles and auto parts and car servicing of HK$87,820,000 (2020: HK$77,365,000) 

from Zhong Bao Group and was charged rental of HK$4,808,000 (2020: HK$4,504,000) by Zhong Bao Group 

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, all of the above transactions were entered into in the ordinary 

course of the Group’s business.
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34.	 COMMITMENTS
34.1	 Lease commitments as lessee

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term leases and low-value assets are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Within one year 33 59

After one year but within five years 10 26
   

43 85
   

34.2	 Capital commitments

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Contracted but not provided for Property, plant and equipment 31,593 –
   

35.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)	 The terms and conditions of advance from a director are disclosed in note 29.

(b)	 The compensations of key management personnel for the year are set out in note 13.3.

(c)	 As stated in note 28.1, as at 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowings of approximately HK$398,216,000 

(2020: HK$395,748,000) were guaranteed by Loh Nee Peng, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

36.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has given guarantees as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Guarantees for banking facilities provided to Zhong Bao Group 173,177 109,296
   

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



127

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments and specifically to credit 

risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, which result from both its operating and investing 

activities. The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close co-operation with the board of 

directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure 

to financial markets.

The Group does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. The 

most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.

Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at 31 December 2021 and 2020 

may be categorised as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Trade receivables 118,702 165,864

Other receivables 777,465 627,862

Pledged deposits 135,066 134,301

Cash and bank balances 102,804 40,405

Financial asset at FVOCI (non-recycling):

Unlisted equity investment 13,418 11,056
   

1,147,455 979,488
   

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Current liabilities

Trade payables 53,452 57,774

Lease liabilities 144,137 148,201

Accruals and other payables 39,206 34,222

Bills payables 170,083 137,826

Borrowings 573,968 515,160

Advance from a director 2,750 2,140
   

983,596 895,323
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk the debtors will default on their obligations to repay the amounts due to the Group, 

resulting in a loss to the Group. The Group has adopted procedures in granting credit terms to customers and in 

monitoring its credit risk. The Group’s credit risk exposures also extend to financial guarantees provided to Zhong 

Bao Group as disclosed in note 36.

As disclosed in note 22, the Group made advances to a key business partner, Zhong Bao Group. To reduce credit 

risk exposure arising from Zhong Bao Group, the Group has been actively monitoring the financial position of 

Zhong Bao Group and the status of its repayments. In addition, collaterals have been requested from Zhong Bao 

Group. The Group has adopted a no-business policy with customers lacking an appropriate credit history where 

credit records are unavailable.

(i)	 Trade receivables

As set out in note 4.8, the Group assesses ECL under HKFRS 9 on trade receivables based on provision 

matrix, the expected loss rates are based on the payment profile for sales in the past 3 years (2020: 3 years) 

as well as the corresponding historical credit losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to 

reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount 

outstanding. At each reporting date, the historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking 

estimates are analysed. In applying the forward-looking information, the Group has taken into account the 

possible impacts associated with the overall change in the economic environment arising from COVID-19.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Failure to make payments within credit terms and failure to engage with the Group on alternative payment 

arrangement amongst other is considered as indicators of no reasonable expectation of recovery.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted 

for 99% (2020: 98%) of the total receivables as at 31 December 2021.

On the above basis, the ECL for trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was determined as follows:

Current

1-90  

days past due

91-180  

days past due

Over 180  

days past due Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

31 December 2021

ECL rate 1.6% 33.4% 60.4% 100%

Gross carrying amount – trade 

receivables 119,496 892 1,456 2,164 124,008
      

Lifetime ECL 1,964 298 880 2,164 5,306
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)	 Trade receivables (Continued)

Current

1-90  

days past due

91-180  

days past due

Over 180  

days past due Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

31 December 2020

ECL rate 1.4% 48.4% 66.0% 100%

Gross carrying amount – trade 

receivables 166,175 3,678 265 1,318 171,436
      

Lifetime ECL 2,299 1,780 175 1,318 5,572
      

(ii)	 Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include deposits and other receivables, pledged deposits and cash and 

bank balances. In order to minimise the credit risk of deposits and other receivables, the management would 

make periodic collective and individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables 

based on historical settlement records and past experience and current external information and adjusted 

to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking information, including the default rate where the relevant 

debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover 

overdue debts. In these regards, the credit risk of deposits and other receivables are considered to be low and 

thus ECL allowance is considered immaterial.

Besides, the management is of opinion that there is no significant increase in credit risk on these deposits 

and other receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default is low after considering the factors as set 

out in note 4.8 and, thus, ECL recognised is based on 12-month ECL and the impact of ECL is insignificant.

The credit risks on pledged deposits and cash and bank balances are considered to be insignificant because 

the counterparties are banks/financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-

rating agencies.
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk in which the Group is unable to meet its short-term obligations. The Group manages 

its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for short-term and long-term financial 

liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day operation, and maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities.

Liquidity needs are monitored on a day-to-day basis. Long-term liquidity needs are monitored by forecast and actual 

cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s operations are financed 

mainly through internal resources, bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flows

Within  
one year

More than 
one year but 
less than five 

years
More than 
five years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

At 31 December 2021

Trade payables 53,452 53,452 53,452 – –
Lease liabilities 144,137 196,610 20,473 62,935 113,202
Accruals and other payables 39,206 39,206 39,206 – –
Bills payables 170,083 170,083 170,083 – –
Borrowings (note) 573,968 586,621 581,638 4,983 –
Advance from a director 2,750 2,750 2,750 – –

      

Total 983,596 1,048,722 867,602 67,918 113,202
      

Financial guarantee issued:
Maximum amount guaranteed 9,327 173,177 173,177 – –

      

At 31 December 2020

Trade payables 57,774 57,774 57,774 – –
Lease liabilities 148,201 206,775 22,312 60,074 124,389
Accruals and other payables 34,222 34,222 34,222 – –
Bills payables 137,826 137,826 137,826 – –
Borrowings (note) 515,160 527,655 523,012 4,643 –
Advance from a director 2,140 2,140 2,140 – –

      

Total 895,323 966,392 777,286 64,717 124,389
      

Financial guarantee issued:
Maximum amount guaranteed 498 109,296 109,296 – –

      

Note: As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no bank and other borrowings containing a repayment on 

demand clause.
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to 

United States dollars (“US$”), Euro (“EUR”) and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions 

and recognised assets and liabilities. As HK$ is pegged to US$, the foreign exchange exposure of US$ is considered 

minimal. In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign 

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. This currency exposure is managed primarily through sourcing 

raw materials denominated in the same currency.

The Group is exposed to currency risks primarily through sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables, 

interest bearing borrowings and bank balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other 

than the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The foreign currencies giving rise to 

this risk are primarily RMB, US$ and EUR. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net results for the year in regard to the Group’s financial assets 

and financial liabilities at the reporting date and the reasonable possible changes in the foreign exchange rates in 

the next 12 months to which the Group has significant exposure at the reporting date, based on the assumption 

that other variables are held constant.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities as at 

31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Denominated  

in US$

Denominated  

in EUR

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

2021

Monetary assets

Deposits and other receivables – 2,159

Cash and bank balances 2,821 70
   

Total monetary assets 2,821 2,229
   

Monetary liabilities

Borrowings (93,205) –
   

Total monetary liabilities (93,205) –
   

Net monetary (liabilities)/assets (90,384) 2,229
   

Foreign currency strengthen/(weaken) by: 1%/(1%) 7%/(7%)
   

Increase/(Decrease) in profit after tax and retained profits (904)/904 156/(156)
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Denominated  

in US$

Denominated  

in EUR

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

2020

Monetary assets

Deposits and other receivables – 2,159

Cash and bank balances 457 77
   

Total monetary assets 457 2,236
   

Monetary liabilities

Borrowings (100,951) –
   

Total monetary liabilities (100,951) –
   

Net monetary (liabilities)/assets (100,494) 2,236
   

Foreign currency strengthen/(weaken) by: 1%/(1%) 9%/(9%)
   

Increase/(Decrease) in profit after tax and retained profits (839)/839 168/(168)
   

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s certain bank 

borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in note 28 to the 

consolidated financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available for its 

borrowings. Management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure 

should the need arise. The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group’s short term bank deposits is considered 

immaterial.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rates had been 100 basis point higher/lower and all other variables were held 

constant, the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits for the year would be decreased/increased by HK$739,000 

(2020: HK$803,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate 

borrowings.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021



133

G.A. HOLDINGS LIMITED
Annual Report 2021

37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Fair values measurement

The directors consider that the carrying amount of each class of the financial assets and financial liabilities approximate 

to their fair values.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are grouped 

into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability and significance 

of inputs to the measurements, as follows:

Level 1:	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2:	 inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly and not using significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3:	 significant unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based 

on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Level 3

HK$’000
  

As at 31 December 2021

Assets

Financial asset at FVOCI (non-recycling) 13,418
  

As at 31 December 2020

Assets

Financial asset at FVOCI (non-recycling) 11,056
  

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 

3. This is the case for Group’s unlisted equity investment.
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Fair values measurement (Continued)

Details of the particulars of the financial asset at FVOCI (non-recycling) are as follows:

Name of financial asset

Place of establishment 

and operation

Particulars of 

registered capital

Percentage of equity 

interest directly held 

by the Group Principal activities
     

廈門歐利行汽車銷售服
務有限公司 (Xiamen 

EURO Automobiles 

Sales and Service Co., 

Ltd.)

PRC RMB80,000,000 9%

(2020: 9%)

Sales of high-end 

motor vehicles and 

provision of repair 

and maintenance 

services of high-end 

automobiles

The fair value of financial asset at FVOCI (non-recycling) is determined using discounted cash flow method which 

requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the financial asset and a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Fair value measurement using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The reconciliation of the carrying amount of the Group’s financial instrument classified within Level 3 of the fair 

value hierarchy is as follows:

Unlisted equity 

security  

(Level 3)

HK$’000
  

At 1 January 2020 8,035

Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive income 2,502

Translation adjustment 519
  

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 11,056

Fair value gain recognised in other comprehensive income 2,008

Translation adjustment 354
  

At 31 December 2021 13,418
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37.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Fair values measurement (Continued)

Valuation processes

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements as at 31 December 2021

The fair value of unlisted equity securities as at 31 December 2021 was determined by an independent qualified 

valuer based on discounted cash flow. The directors reviewed the valuation performed by the independent valuer 

for financial reporting purposes:

–	 Discount rates of 15.3% (2020: 12.7%) for financial assets were determined using a capital asset pricing 

model to calculate a pre-tax rate that reflected current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risk specific to the asset.

–	 A discount for lack of marketability (DLOM) of 15.8% (2020: 15.8%) is adopted as reference to “2021 

Stout Restricted Stock Study Companion Guide” published by Stout Risius Ross, LLC., which its ownership 

interest is not readily marketable compared to similar interest in public companies.

–	 Average revenue growth rate of 2.0% (2020: 2.6%) were estimated reference to the publicly available market 

benchmark of China’s average inflation rate in the past.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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38.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order 

to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during 

the current and previous years.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 

capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including bills payables, lease liabilities, short-term borrowings 

and long-term borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and bank balances. 

Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Total borrowings 888,188 801,187

Less: Cash and bank balances (102,804) (40,405)
   

Net debt 785,384 760,782

Total equity 815,812 724,632
   

Total capital 1,601,196 1,485,414
   

Gearing ratio 49% 51%
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39.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 10 October 

2014, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives to participants 

for their contribution to the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract 

human resources that are valuable to the Group.

All directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors), full-

time employees and any other person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, including any advisors, consultants, 

business partners, joint venture business partners, promoters, service providers of any member of the Group have 

contributed or will contribute to the Group are eligible to participate in the Share Option Scheme. Each grant of 

options to any director of the Company, the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the Company must 

first be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date, 

after which period no further options will be granted but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain 

in full force and effect in all other respects.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules, the Board shall be entitled at any time 

and from time to time within the period of 10 years after the adoption date to offer to grant to any participant as 

the Board may in its absolute discretion select, and subject to such conditions as the Board may think fit, an option 

to subscribe for such number of shares as the Board may determine at the subscription price.

An offer shall be made to a participant by letter in such form as the Board may from time to time determine requiring 

the participant to undertake to hold the option on the terms on which it is to be granted and to be bound by the 

provisions of the Share Option Scheme and shall remain open for acceptance by the participant concerned for a 

period of 28 days from the date on which the option was offered, provided that no such offer shall be open for 

acceptance after the expiry of the option period or termination of the Share Option Scheme or after the participant 

for whom the offer is made has ceased to be a participant.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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39.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
An option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of 

the option duly signed by the grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer is accepted clearly 

stated therein, together with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant 

thereof is received by the Company.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price as determined by the Board in its 

absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the relevant option but in any case the subscription price shall not be 

less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock 

Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in 

the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date 

of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme where 

applicable and any other share option scheme of the Company may not exceed 10% of issued share capital of the 

Company, or may not exceed a maximum of 30%, should the shareholders renew the 10% limit, from time to time 

which have been duly allotted and issued. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each 

eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme and where applicable within any 12-month period is limited to 1% 

of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject 

to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

No share option has been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the current 

year or in prior year.
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40.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current asset

Interests in subsidiaries 80,978 80,978
   

Current assets

Other receivables 325 184

Amounts due from subsidiaries 35,294 37,424

Cash and bank balances 2,738 777
   

38,357 38,385
   

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 1,300 2,813

Amount due to subsidiaries 66,807 49,710

Bank borrowings 46,476 54,511
   

114,583 107,034
   

Net current liabilities (76,226) (68,649)
   

Net assets 4,752 12,329
   

EQUITY

Share capital 47,630 47,630

Reserves (note 32(b)) (42,878) (35,301)
   

Total equity 4,752 12,329
   

Yuen Kin Pheng Choy Choong Yew

Director Director
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41.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operations

Particulars of issued 

and paid-in capital

Percentage of issued 

capital held by the 

Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly
      

German Automobiles Pte Ltd.3 Singapore 7,876,996 shares of 

Singapore dollars 

1 each

100% – Investment holding

German Automobiles Limited 

(“GAL”)3

Hong Kong 20,000 ordinary shares 

of HK$20,000

100% – Trading of motor vehicles, 

provision of car rental 

services and investment 

holding

Xiamen BMW Automobiles Service 

Co., Ltd.1

PRC Registered capital of 

US$11,200,000

– 100% Provision of repair and 

maintenance services of high-

end automobiles

Fujian Xingbao Automobiles Sales 

and Service Co., Ltd.1

PRC Registered capital of 

US$5,100,000

– 100% Provision of repair and 

maintenance services of high-

end automobiles

RUF Automobiles Ltd.3 Hong Kong 20,000 shares of 

HK$20,000

– 100% Investment holding

RUF China Automobiles Trading 

Ltd.1

PRC Registered capital of 

US$7,600,000

– 100% Inactive

Fuzhou Euro2 PRC Registered capital of 

RMB70,000,000

– 100% Automobile dealership, 

exhibitions of high-end 

motor vehicles, provision of 

auto parts and after-sales 

services

QZ Fubao2 PRC Registered capital of 

RMB50,000,000

– 100% Automobile dealership, 

exhibitions of high-end 

motor vehicles, provision of 

auto parts and after-sales 

services
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operations

Particulars of issued 

and paid-in capital

Percentage of issued 

capital held by the 

Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly
      

Longyan Zhongbao Automobiles 

Co., Ltd.2

PRC Registered capital of 

RMB30,000,000

– 100% Automobile dealership, 

exhibitions of high-end 

motor vehicles, provision of 

auto parts and after-sales 

services

Fujian Xingdebao Automobiles 

Sales and Service Co., Ltd.2

PRC Registered capital of 

RMB40,000,000

– 100% Automobile dealership, 

exhibitions of high-end 

motor vehicles, provision of 

auto parts and after-sales 

services

Shanghai Qianyou Trading Co., 

Ltd.(“Qianyou”)2&4

PRC Registered capital of 

US$1,000,000

– 100% Trading of auto accessories

1	 registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law

2	 registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law

3	 incorporated as a limited liability company under local jurisdiction

4	 as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, GAL subscribed for US$1,000,000 registered capital of Qianyou, representing 100% of 

its total registered capital.

In accordance with PRC corporation laws, the subscriber has to pay the amounts of subscribed capital in prescribed schedule 

or when those amounts fall due. The subscriber is liable to any liabilities of the underlying entity up to the respective amounts 

subscribed. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the registered capital of Qianyou has not been paid up in full.

The English name of certain companies referred herein represent management’s best effort at translating the Chinese 

names of these companies as no English name has been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 

results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries 

would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the above subsidiaries had any debt securities in issue at the end of the reporting period.

41.	 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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42.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
42.1	 Major non-cash transactions

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, 

during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into lease arrangements in respect of the 

acquisition and lease modification of right-of-use assets with a total capital value at the inception of the 

leases of HK$7,825,000 (2020: HK$21,162,000).

42.2	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below set out the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for the year ended 

31 December 2021 and 2020.

Advance  

from  

a director Borrowings

Lease 

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

At 1 January 2020 1,491 472,208 155,751 629,450

Cash flows:

– Inflow from financing activities 529 1,764,410 – 1,764,939

– Outflow from financing activities – (1,746,601) – (1,746,601)

– Capital element of lease rentals paid – – (26,385) (26,385)

– Interest element of lease rentals paid – – (7,256) (7,256)

Non-cash transactions:

– Acquisition and lease modification of right-of-use 

assets – – 21,162 21,162

– Interest expenses on lease liabilities – – 7,256 7,256

– Termination of leases (Note 8) – – (14,316) (14,316)

Exchange differences 120 25,143 11,989 37,252
     

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2,140 515,160 148,201 665,501

Cash flows:

– Inflow from financing activities 539 1,336,800 – 1,337,339

– Outflow from financing activities – (1,292,945) – (1,292,945)

– Capital element of lease rentals paid – – (14,666) (14,666)

– Interest element of lease rentals paid – – (8,080) (8,080)

Non-cash transactions:

– Acquisition and lease modification of right-of-use 

assets – – 7,825 7,825

– Interest expenses on lease liabilities – – 8,080 8,080

Exchange differences 71 14,953 2,777 17,801
     

At 31 December 2021 2,750 573,968 144,137 720,855
     

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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43.	 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The Group had no material events for disclosure subsequent to 31 December 2021 and up to the date of approval 

of these consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Revenue 2,588,968 2,264,306 2,235,333 2,225,095 2,027,453

Other income 50,736 45,323 44,232 42,399 43,824

Cost of inventories (2,227,813) (1,958,595) (1,901,767) (1,900,968) (1,702,749)

Employee benefits expenses (132,365) (105,709) (130,666) (143,300) (130,450)

Depreciation and amortisation (61,062) (59,625) (61,891) (50,838) (43,913)

Lease charges (6,075) (4,795) (6,792) (16,682) (17,186)

Exchange differences, net (1,518) 896 (1,262) (309) 3,910

ECL allowance on trade and other 

receivables (3,860) (8,367) (3,300) – –

Other expenses (82,013) (59,373) (79,345) (78,009) (82,703)
      

Profit from operations 124,998 114,061 94,542 77,388 98,186

Finance costs (34,665) (34,508) (37,045) (39,492) (28,213)
      

Profit before income tax 90,333 79,553 57,497 37,896 69,973

Income tax expense (24,900) (26,742) (30,618) (15,909) (22,444)
      

Profit for the year 65,433 52,811 26,879 21,987 47,529
      

HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents

Earnings per share  

Basic and diluted 13.74 11.09 5.64 4.62 9.69
      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Total assets 1,962,927 1,766,815 1,598,098 1,558,317 1,537,672

Total liabilities (1,147,115) (1,042,183) (976,892) (956,105) (926,653)
      

Equity attributable to owners  

of the Company 815,812 724,632 621,206 602,212 611,019
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